

Work Package 2.5

Synthesis report on the state of the art on existing land use modelling software

Navid Khademi Thomas W. Nicolai Seghir Zerguini

André de Palma Kai Nagel Nathalie Picard Paul Waddell

FP7-244557



Revision: 0.9 10/05/2010



Funded under Socio-economic Sciences & Humanities

Contents

1	Overvi	iew of la	nd-use models	6
	1.1	Compre	hensiveness	12
	1.2	Model s	structure	13
	1.3	Theoret	ical foundations	14
	1.4	Modelli	ng techniques	15
	1.5	Dynami	cs	16
	1.6	Tabular	overview of the model systems	17
		1.6.1	Lowry-Garin Model	17
		1.6.2	IRPUD Model	18
		1.6.3	ILUTE Model	19
		1.6.4	MEPLAN Model	20
		1.6.5	TRANUS Model	20
		1.6.6	CUF-2 Model	21
		1.6.7	MUSSA & RURBAN Model	21
		1.6.8	METROSIM Model	22
		1.6.9	DELTA Model	23
		1.6.10	UrbanSim Model	24
		1.6.11	IMREL Model	25
		1.6.12	Ramblas Model	25
		1.6.13	ILUMASS Model	26
	1.7	Conclus	sion	26
2	ILUTE			27
	2.1	Starting	with ILUTE	27
	2.2	Main m	odules	28
		2.2.1	Different sub-models	28
		2.2.2	How does it work: Theoretical foundation	30
		2.2.3	Architecture	30
	2.3	Dynami	c process and fixed point	37
	2.4	Interact	ion with demographic and transportation models	38

		2.4.1	Interaction with demographic model	38
		2.4.2	Interaction with transportation model	39
	2.5	Case s	tudies	39
	2.6	Strengt	ths and weaknesses of ILUTE	40
		2.6.1	Strengths	41
		2.6.2	Weaknesses	41
3	ILUMA	\SS		43
	3.1	Starting	g with ILUMASS	43
	3.2	Module	Overview	45
		3.2.1	Land-use	47
		3.2.2	Transport	48
		3.2.3	Environment	49
	3.3	Data		49
	3.4	How do	pes it work: Theoretical foundation	51
	3.5	Case S	Study	53
	3.6	Hurdles	s in ILUMASS	55
	3.7	Strengt	ths and weaknesses of ILUMASS	55
		3.7.1	Strengths	56
		3.7.2	Weaknesses	56
4	Urban	Sim		58
	4.1	Starting	g with UrbanSim	58
	4.2	Geogra	aphic Unit of Analysis	59
		4.2.1	Grid cells	60
		4.2.2	Parcels	60
		4.2.3	Zones	61
	4.3	Model	Structure	61
		4.3.1	UrbanSim object structure	61
		4.3.2	Main models and their interconnections	64
		4.3.3	How do the models work: Theoretical foundation	65
	4.4	Archite	cture	77
		4.4.1	UrbanSim functional architecture	77

		4.4.2 UrbanSim physical architecture	
	4.5	Interaction with travel demand models	81
	4.6	Case studies	81
	4.7	Key Features of UrbanSim	82
5	Acknowledgements		84
6	Refere	ences	85

Synthesis report on the state of the art on existing land use modelling software

Navid Khademi

ENS Cachan 61, av. du Pdt-Wilson 94235 Cachan cedex France

Teleph.: +33 1 47 40 23 05 e-Mail-Address:

navid.khademi@ens-cachan.fr

André de Palma

ENS Cachan 61, av. du Pdt-Wilson 94235 Cachan cedex France

Teleph.: +33 6 63 64 43 20 e-Mail-Address:

andre.depalma@ens-cachan.fr

Paul Waddell

UC Berkeley 316 Wurster Hall 1870, Berkeley, CA 94720-1870 United States of America

Teleph.: +1 510 642 4874 e-Mail-Address:

waddell@berkeley.edu

10/05/2010

Thomas W. Nicolai

TU Berlin Salzufer 17-19 10587 Berlin Germany

Teleph.: +49 30 314-29 592 e-Mail-Address:

nicolai@vsp.tu-berlin.de

Kai Nagel

TU Berlin Salzufer 17-19 10587 Berlin Germany

Teleph.: +49 30 314-23 308 e-Mail-Address:

nagel@vsp.tu-berlin.de

Seghir Zerguini

ENS Cachan 61, av. du Pdt-Wilson 94235 Cachan cedex France

Teleph.: +33 1 47 40 23 05 e-Mail-Address:

seghir.zerguini@ens-cachan.fr

Nathalie Picard

UCP 33 boulevard du port 95011 Cergy credex France

Teleph.: +33 1 34 25 61 78 e-Mail-Address:

Nathalie.Picard@eco.u-cergy.fr

Abstract

The Sustain City project aims to develop innovative land-use transport interaction models for three major European metropolitan areas, namely Paris, Brussels, and Zurich. Those are based on the association of UrbanSim with dynamic traffic assignment models, METROPOLIS in the case of the Paris metropolitan area, MATSim for Brussels and Zurich. UrbanSim is an urban simulation software, which aims to simulate transformations in the two interacting systems that are transportation and land use, at the scale of a metropolitan area and over a long time span. This report reviews the main features of this software.

In parallel to the report written regarding the UrbanSim software, this report tries to shed light on the ILUTE and ILUMASS software. ILUTE is an urban simulation software aiming to simulate transformations in the two interacting systems that are transportation and land use, at the scale of a metropolitan area and over a long time span. ILUMASS aims at embedding a microscopic dynamic simulation model of urban traffic flows into a comprehensive model system incorporating both changes of land use and the resulting changes in transport demand. This report reviews the main features of both software models. It also contains an overview of other land-use models.

Keywords

UrbanSim; ILUTE; ILUMASS; Geographical unit of analysis; Overview of land-use models; Software architecture

1 Overview of land-use models

Initially we present a review of operational integrated urban land use transportation models, that is, models that have been developed and applied in either a research or actual planning context within the recent years. The term Integrated implies a feedback mechanism of the type shown in Figure 1, between the transportation system and the rest of the urban land use system. Here the "land use" system supplies the transportation system with estimates of the location and volume of travel generators.

"Land use" is a general term here, covering both the types and intensities of activities taking place at specific urban sites as well as the physical area of land and any built structures used in support of such activities (Southworth, 1995). This involves modelling the demand for employment, residential, shopping, and other activities at different sites, and then translating and possibly constraining these demands based on appropriate physical or artificial (i.e., planner-imposed) land utilization rates. The more ambitious models also include the simulation of housing stocks and floor space requirements for industrial buildings. Within some models, this also means simulation of pricing effects on, in particular, residential choice. A further extension in a limited number of modelling systems is a linked simulation of demographic change, allowing the urban area's population to evolve along with the evolution of the physical city within which it lives and works.



Figure 1 Interaction between land-use and transportation

Figure 2 shows the time trends of the last 50 years of development land use and transport models. This Figure describes the chronological development process of models and gives an approximate timeline for the adoption of various modelling frameworks within transportation and land use research.

Source: (Southworth, 1995)

Figure 2 Chronological Development of Land Use and Transportation Models



Source: (Iacono, 2008)

To describe the current state of models developed, we rely on the work of (Wegener, 2004) and (Wegener, 2005) which analyzed and compared with 20 models including ILUTE and UrbanSim.



Figure 3 Integrated Land-Use Transport Models

Adopted from Wegener 2005

Figure 4 and

Figure 5 show that the number of models has been multiplied by 2 in twenty years on the continents of North America and Europe.

Figure 5 also shows that two models are currently deployed in South America (TRANUS and MUSSA).

Figure 4 Urban models in the 1980s

Urban models in the 1980s



Figure 5 Urban models today

Urban models today



Figure 6 shows the evolution of urban land-use and transport models. We can see that ILUTE and ILUMASS are the "most advanced" models in that classification, closely followed by UrbanSim. All three models are disaggregate, non-equilibrium, 1-year step frameworks (Hunt et al., 2005). Note that SustainCity will advance the transport modelling part of UrbanSim.

Transport model		⊤1	Т2	Т3	Τ4
		No public transport, no modal split	Public trans- port, no logit, 24 h	Public trans- port, logit, peak bour	Multimodal, activity-based
Land	-use model	niouul opiit		pour nour	
L1	None			▶	
L2	Activity and judgement				
L3	No market-based land allocation			CUF KIM POL STA	•
L4	Logit allocation with price signals				
L5	Market-based land-use model		ME	F MET MUS RI	
L6	Activity-based land-use model			URB	

Figure 6 Evolution of urban land-use transport models

Adopted from Wegener 2005

1.1 Comprehensiveness

All twenty models are comprehensive in the sense that they address at least two of the eight subsystems identified below (see Table 1). Only ILUTE, MEPLAN, STASA, PECAS, TLUMIP and TRANUS encompass all eight subsystems. IRPUD, LILT, METROSIM and TRESIS address all subsystems except goods transport and KIM models goods movements but not physical stock and land use. Half of the models make no distinction between activities (population and employment) and physical stock (housing and workplaces). Six models (DELTA, CUFM, MUSSA, POLIS, RURBAN and URBANSIM) do not themselves model transport but rely on interaction with existing transport models. Only DELTA, ILUTE, IR-

PUD, LILT and URBANSIM model demographic change and household formation. Table 1 shows the urban subsystems that are modelled with each model.

1.2 Model structure

With respect to overall model structure, two groups can be distinguished. One group of models searches for a unifying principle for modelling and linking all subsystems; the others see the city as a hierarchical system of interconnected but structurally autonomous subsystems; the resulting model structure is either tightly integrated, 'all of one kind', or consists of loosely coupled sub models, each of which has its own independent internal structure. The former type of model is called 'unified', the latter 'composite'. Nine of the twenty models (BOYCE, MUSSA, KIM, MEPLAN, METROSIM, PECAS, RURBAN, TRANUS and STASA) belong to the unified category, the remaining eleven are composite. The distinction between unified and composite model designs has important implications for the modelling techniques applied and for the dynamic behaviour of the models (see Table 1).

-				Speed o	f change			
Models	Very	slow	Sl	ow	Fa	ist	Imme	ediate
	Networks	Land use	Work- places	Housing	Employ- ment	Popula- tion	Goods transport	Travel
BOYCE	+				+	+		+
CUFM	(+)	+	+	+	+	+		(+)
DELTA	(+)	+	+	+	+	+		(+)
ILUTE	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
IMREL	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
IRPUD	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
ITLUP	+	+			+	+		+
KIM	+				+	+	+	+
LILT	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
MEPLAN	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
METROSIM	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
MUSSA	(+)			+	+	+		(+)
PECAS	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
POLIS	(+)	+			+	+		(+)
RURBAN	(+)	+			+	+		(+)
STASA	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
TLUMIP	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
TRANUS	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
TRESIS	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
URBANSIM	(+)	+	+	+	+	+		(+)
(+) provided by linked transport model								

Table 1	Urban subs	vstems rei	presented in	land-use	transport	models
	Orban Subs	ystems rep	presented in	lund use	mansport	moucis

Source: (Wegener, 2004)

1.3 Theoretical foundations

In terms of theoretical foundations, models can be distinguished by this classification:

 Eleven models (DELTA, IMREL, KIM, MEPLAN, METROSIM, MUSSA, PECAS, RURBAN, TLUMIP, TRANUS and TRESIS) represent the land (or floor space or housing) market with endogenous prices and market clearing in each period; three (ILUTE, IRPUD and URBANSIM) have endogenous land and housing prices with delayed price adjustment. These models are indebted to microeconomic theory, in particular to Alonso's (1964) theory of urban land markets or bid-rent theory. The models without market equilibrium rely on random utility maximisation; however, three of the microeconomic models (MUSSA, RURBAN and STASA) are hybrids between bid-rent and random utility theory. All models with transport sub models use random utility or entropy theory for modelling destination and mode choice, except the STASA model.

- Only KIM and METROSIM determine a general equilibrium of transport and location with endogenous prices. Other models are equilibrium models of transport only (ILUTE, IRPUD, ITLUP and TLUMIP), of transport and activity location separately (IMREL, MEPLAN, PECAS, TRESIS and TRANUS), or of transport and location combined but without endogenous prices (BOYCE and LILT). MUSSA equilibrium not only satisfies market clearing with demand and supply endogenously defined, but also equilibrates agents' interactions or location externalities to equilibrium. Five models apply concepts of locational surplus (IMREL, POLIS), random utility (DELTA, IRPUD and ITLUP) or profitability (CUFM) to locate activities. ITLUP may be brought to general equilibrium, but this is not normally done; METROSIM may produce a long-run equilibrium or converge to a steady state in annual increments. STASA describes the short-term redistribution of population during a day due to transport events.
- IMREL uses its equilibrium mechanism to determine the distribution of housing that maximises locational surplus and so is a true optimisation model, whereas all other models in the sample simulate one particular scenario only. Despite earlier attempts at optimisation in urban models, optimisation approaches in urban models have all but disappeared.
- Several other theoretical elements are built into some models. MEPLAN, METROSIM, PECAS and TRANUS use export base theory to link population and non-basic employment to exogenous forecasts of export industries. DELTA, ILUTE, IRPUD, LILT, TLUMIP and URBANSIM apply standard probabilistic concepts of cohort survival analysis in their demographic and household formation sub models. IRPUD also utilises ideas from time geography, such as time and money budgets, to determine action spaces of travellers in its transport sub model.

1.4 Modelling techniques

In all twenty models, the urban region is represented as a set of discrete sub areas or zones. Time is typically subdivided into discrete periods of one to five years. This classifies all models except IMREL (which is static) as recursive simulation models:

14/05/2010

- STASA uses a one-year period for the urban/regional modelling and a one-hour period for redistribution effects due to transport events. In nine models (BOYCE, IM-REL, KIM, LILT, MEPLAN, METROSIM, PECAS, RURBAN and TRANUS) transport and location are simultaneously determined in spatial-interaction location models in which activities are located as destinations of trips; in the remaining models (and in the employment location model of IMREL) transport influences location via accessibility indicators. In the models with network representation, state-of-theart modelling techniques are applied, with network equilibrium the dominant trip assignment method despite its weakness of collapsing to all-or-nothing assignment in the absence of congestion. Only ITLUP, MEPLAN, STASA and TRANUS have multiple-path assignment allowing for route-choice dispersion, and only ILUTE and TLUMIP use activity-based trip generation.
- For representing flows of goods, spatial input-output methods are the standard method. DELTA, KIM, MEPLAN, PECAS and TRANUS use input-output coefficients or demand functions for intersectional flows and random utility or entropy models for their spatial distribution. MEPLAN, PECAS and TRANUS incorporate industries and households as consuming and producing 'factors' resulting in goods movements or travel.
- With the exception of CUFM, all models are aggregate at a meso level, i.e. all results are given for medium-sized zones and for aggregates of households and industries. CUFM, ILUTE and TLUMIP are disaggregate, i.e. apply micro simulation techniques. CUFM uses detailed land information in map form generated by a geographical information system. IRPUD starts with aggregate data but uses micro simulation in its housing market sub model; work is underway to make more sub models microscopic (Salomon et al., 2002). ILUTE and URBANSIM apply zones but use smaller spatial units such as grid cells or parcels in some sub models.

1.5 Dynamics

The discussion on dynamics is related to the issue of equilibrium (see above). Equilibrium models are based on the assumption that interdependent model variables, such as prices, supply and demand, adjust to equilibrium with zero delay or, if adjustment is delayed, equilibrium is eventually reached. Dynamic models, on the other hand, are based on the assumption that some changes, e.g. changes in demand, are faster than others, e.g. responses of supply, and that these differences in speed of adjustment are so large that urban systems are normally

in disequilibrium. All but three (BOYCE, IMREL, KIM) of the twenty models are recursive simulation models. Recursive simulation models are called quasi-dynamic because, although they model the development of a city over time, within one simulation period they are in fact cross-sectional. This is however only true for strictly unified models. Composite models consist of several interlinked sub models that are processed sequentially or iteratively once or several times during a simulation period. This makes composite models well suited for taking account of time lags or delays due to the complex superposition of slow and fast processes of urban development. However, some models insufficiently use this feature, because their simulation period of five years has the effect of an implicit time lag – a too long time lag in most cases. This problem is likely to disappear as faster computers will make shorter simulation periods of one or two years more feasible.

1.6 Tabular overview of the model systems

This section contains a tabular overview of different model systems. It is mainly based on Timmermans (2003).

Main purpose	
Туре	
Generation1	Aggregate spatial interaction-based model
Programming language	
License	
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel
Model structure	
Software components	 Economic base sub model Spatial allocation sub model
Theoretical foundation	Gravity-based model
Travel model	
Features	Considered to be the first transportation / land use model (1964)
Developer	See Lowry (1963, 1964)
Case studies	Pittsburgh region

1.6.1 Lowry-Garin Model

¹ "Generation" refers to the modelling generation according to Timmermans (2007). Alternatives are "Aggregate spatial interaction-based models", "Multinomial logit-based models of utility-maximizing actors", and "Towards activity-based microsimulation models".

1.6.2 **IRPUD Model**

Main purpose	9
--------------	---

This model simulates employment change by industrial sector and demographic changes within a set of labour market regions.

Туре	Partially Micro simulation Model			
Generation	Aggregate spatial interaction-based model / Micro simulation			
Programming language				
License				
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use			
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models			
Software components	Interlinked sub models: Transport Ageing Public programs Private construction Labour market Housing market To model: Aging of people Households Dwellings and workplaces Relocation of firms Redundancies an new jobs Non-residential construction and demolition Residential construction Rehabilitation and demolition Changes of jobs Changes in residence			
Theoretical foundation	Travel: Doubly constrained and production-constrained entropy-maximizing model Land use: Markov process Different model scopes: (Macro analytical) economic model (Macro analytical) demographic model (Mesoscopic) spatial model (Micro analytical) land use model			
Travel model	Integrated			
Features	Typical for the first generation: use of gravity models Typical for the latest generation: use of micro simulation			
Developer	See Wegener (1982, 1983)			
Case studies	Dortmund region			

1.6.3 ILUTE Model

Main purpose	Evolution of an entire urban region with emphasis on transport. Schedules individuals' activity-			
	travel patterns within a household context.			
Туре	Agent Based			
Generation	Activity-based, micro simulation model			
Programming language	C++			
License				
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use, environment			
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models			
Software components Theoretical foundation	 Interrelated behavioural core components: Land development Location choice Activity / travel Auto ownership Demographics Regional economics Government policies Transport system Flows, times, and so on External impacts Rule based: reducing number of choices / logit model for selecting best option. 			
	Modelling methods to capture object behaviour: State transition models, random utility models, rule-based (computational) models, learning models, exploration models, and newly developed hybrids of these approaches			
Travel model	Integrated, agent-based			
Features	Integration of environment sub model			
	Model differentiates between persons and household, and between firms (modelled as agents)			
	Buildings are recognized in addition to zones			
	Spatial units: zones, grid cells, parcels			
	ILUTE status: on going research			
Developer	See Salvini et al. (2005) and Miller, E. J. (2009)			
Case studies	Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area			

1.6.4 MEPLAN Model

Main purpose	Simulate the effects of urban policies
Туре	Spatial Input-Output Model
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	
License	Commercial
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models
Software components	 Land use/economic module (LUS) Transportation module (TAS) Economic evaluation module (EVAL) An interface program called FRED couples these modules.
Theoretical foundation	Input-output model: predict the change in demand for space Random utility concepts: spatial system, transport model
Travel model	Integrated, 4 stage transport model
Features	
Developer	See Echenique (1977, 1994) and Echenique et al. (1969, 1980, 1990, 1995)
Case studies	Santiago, Chile, Sao Paulo, Teheran, Bilbao, Nepal's

1.6.5 TRANUS Model

Main purpose	Simulate and evaluate transportation, economics, and/or environmental			
	Policies			
Туре	Spatial Input-Output Model			
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model			
Programming language				
License	Creative Commons License			
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use			
Model structure	Tightly integrated sub models			
Software components	 Land use / activities model Transport model 			
Theoretical foundation	 Land use: spatial input-output model Transport model: logit model for mode choice, utility functions estimate generalized costs Discrete choice approach: Components of the urban/regional and transport system, from trip generation to mode choice, path choice, location choice, land use choice, and others 			
Travel model	Integrated, also models goods transport			
Features	Download available: http://www.modelistica.com/download.htm			
Developer	See De la Barra (1989)			
Case studies	Applied in a large number of cities in Latin America, USA, Europe (e.g. Brussels) and Japan			

1.6.6 CUF-2 Model

Main purpose	Simulate urban growth and development policies, scenarios for future development
Туре	Cellular automata
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	
License	
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, land use
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models
Software components	Probability of land use change:
	 The first sub model computes the development of undeveloped sites The second sub model models previously developed sites
Theoretical foundation	Land use models: multinomial logit-based models
	Spatial sub model: allocation rule based
Travel model	External
Features	In contrast to other models:
	 CUF-2 projects population from the 'bottom-up' (projects population growth at the ci-ty/sub area level and then aggregates upwards) CUF-2 allocates growth to individual sites (according to their potential)
Developer	See Landis (1994)
Case studies	California

1.6.7 **MUSSA & RURBAN Model**

Main purpose	Predicts the location of households and firms and the resulting rents
Туре	
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	
License	
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing
Model structure	Tightly integrated sub models
Software components	
Theoretical foundation	RURBAN: Random Utility/Discrete Choice Model
Travel model	External
Features	Spatial allocation of land uses by bid function
Developer	Martínez (1992, 1997)
Case studies	Santiago City

1.6.8 **METROSIM Model**

Main purpose	Designed to study the relationship between land use and transport
Туре	
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	
License	Proprietary software
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use
Model structure	Tightly integrated sub models
Software components	Contains sub models for: Basic industry Non basic industry Residential and commercial real estate Vacant land Households Commuting and non commuting travel Traffic assignment
Theoretical foundation	METROSIM: Random Utility/Discrete Choice Model Mode choice: multinomial logit model
Travel model	Integrated
Features	
Developer	See Anas (1982, 1983)
Case studies	Chicago Area

1.6.9 **DELTA Model**

Main purpose	Designed to interact with a transportation model to forecast land use changes
Туре	Spatial Input-Output Model
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	
License	Licensing is on a project specific basis and includes the services of the model developer
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, land use
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models
Software components	 Urban part of DELTA contains sub models for: Development process Demographic change (e.g., household formation) Economic growth Location and relocation of households and jobs in the property market Car ownership choices Changes in employment status and commuting patterns Changes in the quality of residential areas Moreover the regional part of DELTA contains sub models for: Migration between different urban areas Location of investment/disinvestment Production and trade
Theoretical foundation	Land use model input from external transport model: Types of accessibility and area quality
Travel model	External
Features	
Developer	See Simmonds (2001) and Simmonds et al. (1998)
G 11	

Case studies

1.6.10 **UrbanSim Model**

Main purpose

UrbanSim is a model for integrated planning and analysis of urban development, incorporating the interactions between land use, transportation, and public policy

Туре	Agent based
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	Python
License	GNU General Public Licence
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, land use
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models
Software components	 Macroeconomic Model (extern) Travel Demand Model (extern) Transition Model (Demographic and Econometric) Relocation Model Location Choice Model Real Estate Development Model Real Estate Price Model
Theoretical foundation	UrbanSim: discrete choice model based on the random utility theory Household and Employment Mobility Model: multinomial logit model
Travel model	External, delivers accessibility measures
Features	 Spatial units: zones, grid cells, parcels Transportation model models: car, walk and bicycle Disaggregated presentation of agents (household, jobs) Aim: Open up the model and the process of its design as much as possible (in longer terms: interact with the model via the internet). Allows to include own variables
Developer	See Waddell (2000, 2002) and Waddell et al. (2003, 2004, 2007, 2008)
Case studies	Detroit, Durham (North Carolina), Eugene-Springfield, Honolulu, Houston, Phoenix, Salt Lake City, San Antonio, San Francisco, and Seattle/Washington (Puget Sound region)

1.6.11 IMREL Model

Main purpose	
Туре	
Generation	Utility-maximizing multinomial logit-based model
Programming language	
License	
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use
Model structure	Loosely coupled sub models
Software components	This list may be incomplete: • Employment location • Residential location
Theoretical foundation	 Total number of household and workplaces exogenously given Location of workplaces and transport system are given (normative) Allocation of working force to zones: multinomial logit-based model → model finds location of predefined number of housing units (utility maximization)
Travel model	Integrated
Features	In contrast to other models IRMEL is a: • Static simulation model • Normative model on residential location
Developer	See Anderstig and Mattsson (1991, 1992, 1998) and Boyce and Mattson (1999)
Case studies	Stockholm region

1.6.12 **Ramblas Model**

Main purpose

Intended and unintended consequences of planning decisions related to land use, building programmes, and road construction for households and firms

Туре	
Generation	Activity-based, micro simulation model
Programming language	Fortran
License	
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use
Model structure	
Software components	
Theoretical foundation	Rule based
Travel model	
Features	
Developer	See Veldhuisen et al. (2000)
Case studies	Eindhoven region

1.6.13 ILUMASS Model

Main purpose	Dynamic simulation model with a focus on urban traffic flows, including activity behaviour,
	changes in land use, and effects on environment
Туре	Agent Based
Generation	Activity-based, micro simulation model
Programming language	Some Modules are implemented in Java, uses geographic information system (GIS) technology
License	
Comprehensiveness	Population, employment, housing, workplace, travel, land use, environment
Model structure	
Software components	Modules:
	 Land use Transport Environment To model: Changes in land use Activity patterns and travel demand Traffic flows Goods transport Environmental impacts of transportation and land use
Theoretical foundation	Markov Logit, Monte Carlo
Travel model	Integrated, goods transport and travel, microscopic model
Features	The land-use component of ILUMASS based on IRPUD (see above), but uses the microscopic
	version (of IRPUD).
	Integration of environment module
Developer	Beckmann et al. (2007)
Case studies	Dortmund region

1.7 Conclusion

The Sustain City project is focused on the UrbanSim Software. For that reason, this review is focused on UrbanSim itself, as well as on alternative modelling systems, with the intention to identify useful elements that might also be introduced into UrbanSim.

Except for UrbanSim itself, only two of the presented urban land-use transport models are disaggregated and agent-based. These are ILUTE and ILUMASS. Many similarities between UrbanSim, ILUTE, and ILUMASS can be recognized: e.g. the representation of the land (or floor space or housing) market and the modelling of demographic changes. The following sections summarize the most important aspects of ILUTE (section 2), ILUMASS (section 3) and UrbanSim (section 4).

2 ILUTE

2.1 Starting with ILUTE

The ILUTE (Integrated Land Use, Transportation and Environment) research program since the 90s – a collaboration of several Canadian universities, including the University of Toronto (Miller et al.) – seeks to develop an integrated transportation and land use model. This integrated model of micro simulation of urban systems encompasses four components (urban development, choice of location, activity/travel, and vehicle ownership) and seeks to forecast their reactions and interactions subsequent to the implementation of various urban policies relevant to land management and government interventions affecting transportation and the environment.

ILUTE simulates the activities of individual objects (agents) as they evolve over time. These objects include persons (with households and families), transportation networks (road and transit networks), the built environment (houses and commercial buildings), firms, the economy (interest rates and inflation), and the job market. The simulator evolves the state of the urban system from a specified base month to a specified target month.

The model simulates the temporal and spatial activities of demographic and economic agents as they change gradually from a specified base month (or year) to a specified target month (or year). The software is produced to predict the evolution of an urban area over future horizon (for example 10–20–30 future years).

In ILUTE, a major emphasis has been placed on market demand-supply interactions especially in residential and commercial real estate markets. This software is such an integrated full-feedback model that allows a multilevel decision framework, where longer-term decisions influence the shorter-term decisions with full-feedback opportunity (Salvini & Miller, 2005).

The ILUTE model is a dynamic urban modelling system works based on the disaggregated nature of the elements playing the main role in the evolution of an integrated urban structure. It attempts to describe the behaviour of the agents and its changes over an extended period of time and its possible location throughout the analyzed region based on no imposed equilibrium assumptions. It is completely Object Oriented consider the full population of the region of the study.

2.2 Main modules

2.2.1 **Different sub-models**

The goal of the ILUTE is to provide software for travel demand modellers to experiment with dynamic micro simulation sub-models of urban land development, location choice processes and travel behaviour. The framework for the ILUTE project contains a sample set of submodels of several short run and long run dynamic events.

The various sub-modules that comprise ILUTE are:

- ٠ Housing Market Sub-model (determines if and where a household will move)
- Auto Transactions Sub-model (determines if a household will buy/sell/trade an ٠ auto)
- Activity Sub-model (generates activities in time and space for each person)
- Demographic Sub-model (manages births, deaths, in and out migration, marriage, • etc.)
- Output Sub-model (presentation of results) •

The approach of ILUTE as presented in Figure 7 is two-fold:

- Micro simulates households' residential choice and activity-travel behaviour.
- Use a hybrid approach of firms' location choice micro simulation and aggregate re-• gional economics.

Figure 7 ILUTE core model



The core of ILUTE is a simulation framework that allows different sub-models to be plugged into it. The core keeps track of the state of the simulated world and all the objects in it. It also provides supporting tools that can synthesize objects to create an initial world and save the state of the world to a database.

The ILUTE software supports the followings capabilities (Ghauche, 2010):

- Synthesize a test set of households, persons, jobs, dwelling units, and buildings,
- Import spatial data (census tracts, Transportation Tomorrow Survey (TTS) planning districts, TTS traffic zones), transit and road networks, travel time data (by mode and time of day), and text-based economic data (interest rates and consumer price indices),
- Evolve the state of the system to an arbitrary date using an arbitrary time step by simulating the activities and behaviours of individual objects (e.g. persons and households),
- Track (display) the activities and behaviours of individual objects in the system as they evolve,
- Simulate population in-migration and out-migration,
- Export spatiotemporal data for visualization in 3D (static or animated),
- Read and write state information to a relational database.

2.2.2 How does it work: Theoretical foundation

ILUTE is largely based on autonomous agent theory (Miller, 2009). The population is simulated (as persons, households and decision making units), which then has processes simulated based on the current attributes of the agent, using "probabilistic state 'transition' models". ILUTE uses several different types of models for "triggering processes", or "sudden transitions from a passive to an active state at an arbitrary point in time".

A variety of modelling methods are employed within ILUTE to capture object behaviours (Salvini & Miller, 2005):

- ٠ State transition models,
- Random utility models, ٠
- Rule-based (computational) models,
- Learning models,
- Exploration models, •
- And newly developed hybrids of these approaches. ٠

2.2.3 **Architecture**

ILUTE object structure

The list of classes below provides some insight into the current architecture of ILUTE (Salvini & Miller, 2005).

- Architectural Classes:
 - Application (the parent class of the software)
 - Database Administrator (reads and writes the system state to disk)
 - World (the simulated system)
- Agents:
 - Persons (each individual person is modelled by the system)
 - Households (a set of persons who live in the same dwelling unit)
 - Firms, Establishments (represents the decision-making of a company)
 - Property Owner
- Physical Classes:
 - Transportation Network (multi-modal network consisting of Nodes and Links)

- Travel Times (by mode: e.g. walk, bike, auto, transit, etc.)
- Vehicles
- Buildings, Dwelling Units
- Location (a geographic point), Neighbourhood (a boundary with common traits)
- Planning Districts (a prototypical "higher level" spatial boundary)
- Monetary Values (capture monetary values as a date-value pair: e.g. \$1.00 in 1986)
- Schedule
- Sub-models:
 - Housing Market Sub-model (determines if and where a household will move)
 - Auto Transactions Sub-model (determines if a household will buy/sell/trade an auto)
 - Activity Sub-model (generates activities in time and space for each person)
 - Output Sub-model
 - Demographic Sub-model (manages births, deaths, in and out migration, marriage, etc.)
- Supporting Classes:
 - Bid (a financial bid on a transaction)
 - Job
 - Market Pools (track participation in the marriage and housing markets)
 - Market Moderators (process transactions within a given market)
 - Simulated Object (anything updated over time)
 - Simulation Date (current date/time of the simulation)
 - Spatial Object (anything with a Location)
 - Stressors (things that cause stress to agents: e.g. travel time, financial problems)
 - Stress Manager (tracks, manages, and resolves "stress" in the life of the agents)
 - Temporal Data Manager (manages time-varying data sets)

ILUTE model structure and processing

Figure 8 shows the simulation process of a future horizon $(T + \Delta T)$ from a reference horizon (T).





Source: (Miller, 2009)

The procedure "Agent Synthesis" in the model allows to analyze and to synthesize socioeconomic data (Census...) of the reference year. This procedure consists of four sequential phases: the synthesis of households and persons, the synthesis of buildings and dwelling units, the assignment of households to dwelling units, and the assignment of the primary work mode.

For the simulation horizon, the following sub-models are executed serially:

- Demographic Update
- Labour Market
- Housing Market
- Auto Ownership
- Activity-based Daily Travel (TASHA)

As shown in Figure 9, each sub-model uses external data (employment, road and transit networks...) on the target horizon.

Representation of Persons, Households, and Families

One of the key features of the ILUTE is the explicit representation of persons, households, and families. The inclusion of the family relationship within ILUTE enables a number of insightful decisions to be made in location choice and activity scheduling. Family relationships captured within the ILUTE include mother, father, spouse, ex-spouses, children, and siblings. Figure 9 shows an example of family relationships where we can distinguish five persons, three households and two families (Miller, 2009).

Figure 9 Example family relationships



Source: (Miller, 2009)

Behaviour and Decision-Making

In ILUTE, objects called decision-making units implement behaviour. ILUTE's explicit representation of compound groups like households and families means that decisions can be made directly by these objects. In other cases, several objects will collaborate to form ad-hoc decision-making units (for example, the drivers in a household may collaborate to make a decision about a vehicle purchase). The assignment or attribution of behaviours to collective decision-making units is a fundamental design feature of the ILUTE model. This feature delivers several practical benefits, including the ability to trace decisions on a per-entity basis and the ability to support multiple temporal decision scales. Some decision-making units are abstractions of real-world entities. A firm, for example, is an object within ILUTE that makes decisions, the use of such objects as surrogate decision-makers is a useful and understandable abstraction of the real-world process (Salvini & Miller, 2005).

Figure 10 shows the sub-model used by ILUTE to simulate a housing market demand, supply and market equilibrium.



Figure 10 Housing Market micro simulation Model

Source: (Miller, 2009)

In ILUTE the Market Clearing process used is based on:

- Micro simulation clearing process (Dwellings cleared individually and not by type or any other level of aggregation)
- Auction based
- No equilibrium assumption
- Endogenous price-formation
- Location choice probabilities of bidding households, used to clear the market

TASHA

TASHA (Travel/Activity Scheduler for Household Agents) is activity scheduler model used in the ILUTE. This model generates activities in time and space for each person.

The main features of TASHA are:

- Generates all the movements of individuals
- Modal choice model based on the towers (See Figure 11)

• Resource allocation based on the utility of direct modes



Figure 11 Example a trip generated by TASHA

TASHA is a rule-based model that builds on the concept of activity projects and schedules activities sequentially to predict an individual's daily schedule (See Figure 12). Briefly stated, a project is a collection of activity episodes that combine to achieve one goal (i.e. a "dinner at home" project involves the activity episodes of shopping, cooking, eating and cleaning among others). TASHA micro simulates the behaviour of every individual by going through the steps outlined below as shown in Figure 13 (Ghauche, 2010):

<u>Step 1:</u>

Within TASHA, all individuals have a pre-specified set of projects (e.g. work, school, shopping, in-home activities). At the onset of every day, the model selects random activity episodes (e.g. type, timing, duration and location) based on the frequency of this episode in an observed sample. This agenda constitutes the pool of activities that are likely to be done each day.

<u>Step 2:</u>

These episodes are sequentially "scheduled" using a set of rules according to a pre-specified priority order while making sure that spatio-temporal constraints are respected.

<u>Step 3:</u>
Associated with each activity episode is a travel episode that may or may not materialize depending on the location of the sequential activities. The scheduling of a travel episode includes a mode choice model given the household's vehicle resources and situational constraints (e.g. if an individual left home without a car to go to work, he may not use his car for work-based trip during the day).

Work Project Work School Project Other Other Project Other Shopping Project Shop 1 : : Person At-home Schedule At-home = "Gap" in Project Agenda = Activity Episode Source: (Miller, 2009)

Figure 12 Scheduling Activity Episodes into a Daily Schedule

TASHA captures intra-household interactions in two ways: In case of vehicle allocation conflict between two individuals, the car is allocated to a person to maximize the additive utilities of these two household members. By creating an ad hoc household decision making unit (Salvini & Miller, 2005) that has its own set of activity projects such as childcare and homemaintenance, TASHA adds the activity episodes within these pools to the pool of potential activities for each individual.





Source: (Miller & Roorda, 2003)

2.3 Dynamic process and fixed point

One contrast between the ILUTE approach to route choice and some of the more detailed "traffic" micro simulations, is that ILUTE adopts a conventional view regarding how individual travellers respond to congestion. Travellers are assumed to know, from past experience, the congested travel conditions on various links, and they make travel choices consistent with this knowledge. Thus, the route choice decisions of travellers are assumed to be in some sort of Wardrop equilibrium with the route choices of other travellers (Miller et al., 2004).

2.4 Interaction with demographic and transportation models

2.4.1 Interaction with demographic model

In addition to Census demographic data, time-series information on births, deaths, marriages and divorces have been assembled from provincial and federal sources to support the development of demographic sub-models dealing with the "updating" of the resident population (births and deaths) and household formation/ dissolution (marriages and divorces). Something, which has not yet been acquired in sufficient detail by the ILUTE team, is information on in- and out-migration from the GTA. Migration, however, is extremely important in a high-growth region such as Toronto and may prove to be a relatively problematic issue with which to deal.

A demographic updating procedure has been developed for the GTA that updates household, family & person attributes each year in a simulation run (see Figure 14).

Figure 14 Model of demographic updating in ILUTE



Source: (Miller, 2009)

The Household class in ILUTE performs the simulation of the behaviour of the household agents. Seemingly, the person class does the simulation of the person agent. The first step for

simulating the agents in ILUTE is proceeded by the simulation of individuals, households, businesses and establishments. Each agent has variety of degree of freedom by which it can make decisions for which it is responsible. Figure 14 demonstrates the procedure of demographic decisions and the demographic updating mechanism within the ILUTE.

2.4.2 Interaction with transportation model

The current prototype does not include an explicit model of the transportation network. Rather, it assumes that such a model exists external to ILUTE that is able to provide travel times and costs by mode to ILUTE as required (currently zone-to-zone matrices are assumed to exist, but other representations are possible). The ILUTE architecture, however, has been designed to accommodate an integrated transportation network model (Salvini & Miller, 2005).

To the case study of Toronto ILUTE was connected with EMME/2 road & transit network assignment model -link speeds & volumes by hour of day- (Miller, 2009).

But a project started in 2004 aims to link the model ILUTE (and TASHA) the traffic model MATSIM to take into account the dynamics of traffic that does not as a static model EMME/2. The goal was to add new traffic simulator and activity generator sub-models to ILUTE. The current activity generator and traffic simulator (MATSIM) are overly simple and need to be replaced to provide more realistic simulation (Thibault, 2004).

One contrast between the ILUTE approach to route choice and some of the more detailed "traffic" micro-simulations is that ILUTE adopts a conventional view regarding how individual travellers respond to congestion. Travellers are assumed to know, from past experience, the congested travel conditions on various links, and they make travel choices consistent with this knowledge (Miller et al., 2004).

2.5 Case studies

Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area (GTHA)

- 1.1 million households,
- 1.0 million families,
- 3.3 million persons.

Figure 15 Example of ILUTE output - Time access to the centre of Toronto



Source: (Miller, 2009)

The model was extensively validated with respect to its base year of 1996 and for a forecast year of 2001. Overall, the model was found to perform very well in both the base and forecast cases. It is deemed ready to be used in operational policy analyses for the GTHA.

2.6 Strengths and weaknesses of ILUTE

To identify weaknesses and strengths of the model ILUTE we rely on the comparison of the six urban models (including ILUTE) carried out research of Ghauche (2010).

2.6.1 Strengths

Strengths in the scope of ILUTE:

- Includes mobile energy and emissions ٠
- Includes land use modifications •
- Includes ecological processes
- Includes environmental indicators of sustainability •
- Includes economic indicators of sustainability •
- Includes social indicators of sustainability

Strengths in the modelling approach of ILUTE:

- Use Bottom-up approach •
- Includes households
- Includes individual activities •
- High spatial resolution (can handle multiple spatial aggregations) •
- Takes into account a full day (24hrs) •

Strengths in the modelling techniques of ILUTE:

- Use rule-based models
- Includes inter-individual interactions
- Includes ecological processes •

2.6.2 Weaknesses

Weaknesses in the scope of ILUTE:

- Does not include stationary energy
- Does not include impact of environment on transport

Weaknesses in the modelling approach of ILUTE:

- Does not include firms ٠
- Does not include activities of firms •

Weaknesses in the modelling techniques of ILUTE:

- Does not use utility-based models •
- Does not include intra-individual dynamics •
- Does not include partnerships and competition between firms ٠

3 ILUMASS

The objective of ILUMASS project (Integrated Land-Use Modelling and Transportation System Simulation) was to implement a fully microscopic model of urban land use, transport, and environment. With these objectives, ILUMASS is the only European counterpart to the growing number of large North-American modelling projects, such as ILUTE (Strauch et al., 2005).

ILUMASS was under development between 2002 and 2006 as an interdisciplinary joint research project. The project made considerable progress in the state-of-the-art in integrated urban models but run out of funding before it met its goals.

The following information is largely based on Strauch et al. (2005), often verbatim. In the interest of readability, the passages are not marked as quotations in most cases.

3.1 Starting with ILUMASS

The ILUMASS model (Integrated Land-Use Modelling and Transportation System Simulation) is a disaggregated, microscopic model. The project aims at embedding a microscopic dynamic simulation model of urban traffic flows into a comprehensive model system that incorporates changes of land use, the resulting changes in activity behaviour and in transport demand, and the environmental impacts of transport and land use. Therefore, ILUMASS integrates three modules to a complete modelling system to provide a balanced view of the entire urban planning process: land-use, transport and environment (LTE). A detailed description of these models is given in the next section 3.2.

Each of these modules consists of several loosely coupled microscopic sub models. Every sub model has its own independent internal structure. A dedicated software component organizes the interplay of the different modules. They include models of demographic development, household formation, firm lifecycles, residential and non-residential construction, labour mobility in the regional labour market and household mobility in the regional housing market (Strauch et al., 2005).

"The ILUMASS project has two main highlights" (Ghauche, 2010). First, ILUMASS is one of the first urban models that distinguish between households and firms. ILUMASS handles them as two different types of agents interacting in the urban context. This approach allows a

more individual and effective approach in the model system. While most firms are interested in having good traffic connections, many households wish to live in detached single-family houses in pleasant natural environments, which is the reason for suburbanisation and urban sprawl (Wagner & Wegener, 2007).

The latter highlight considers a two-way feedback link between the land-use, transportation and environment (see Figure 16). There are two important kinds of feedback: The accessibility provided to locations in the region by the transport system influences the location decisions of developers, firms, and households. Firms and households also take environmental factors, such as clean air and absence of traffic noise, in location decisions into account.





To meet the challenge in planning sustainable land use, transport and environment an interdisciplinary consortium of German research institutions conducted LUMASS. The consortium consists of the German Aerospace Center (DLR) in Berlin, the Institute of Spatial Planning at the University of Dortmund (IRPUD) together with Spiekermann & Wegener Urban and Regional Research (S&W), the Institute of Urban and Transport Planning at the RWTH

Source: (Strauch et al., 2005)

Aachen University (ISB), the Institute of Theoretical Psychology at the University of Bamberg (IfTP), the Centre of Applied Computer Science at the University of Cologne (ZAIK) and the Institute of Sustainable Infrastructure Planning at the University of Wuppertal (LUIS) under the coordination of DLR. (Strauch et al., 2005)

Module Overview 3.2

As mentioned above the ILUMASS model is divided into three modules: land-use, transport and environment (see Figure 17). Each of these modules consists of several microscopic sub models:





Source: (Wagner & Wegener, 2007)

3.2.1 Land-use

The land use component of ILUMASS is based on existing land use parts developed at the Institute of Spatial Planning of the University of Dortmund (IRPUD). The macroscopic models of the IRPUD are re-implemented in microscopic form for ILUMASS. The microscopic land use sub modules include the following most important components (Wagner & Wegener, 2007):

- Population: The population model models the demographic lifecycle of persons and households such as people get older as time progresses, they have a certain probability to die, depending on their age and sex, new persons are born, couples move together or split up and young people move together and establish non-standard households. In addition, changes in employment are modelled.
- Firms: In analogy to the demography model of persons and households the simulation of firm lifecycle, called firmographie, models foundation, growth and eventual relocation, decline and closure of firms. These events are modelled by transition probabilities subject to exogenously provided economic structural change and business cycles.
- Residential mobility: The residential mobility sub model models location and housing decisions of households that move into, out of or within the region. Moves are modelled as transactions of households and landlords on the regional housing market. The attractiveness of a dwelling for a household is a weighted aggregate of the attractiveness of its location, quality and rent or price in relation to the household's housing budget. A household accepts a new dwelling if it promises a significant improvement in housing satisfaction. Otherwise, it continues its search annually until it finds suitable dwelling or abandons the search.
- Firm location/relocation: In analogy to the residential mobility sub model, this sub model simulates location or relocation decisions of firms. Firms dissatisfied with their present location examine up to ten alternative locations with respect to accessibility, size, price, quality and image and select a location if it offers a significant improvement of location satisfaction. Otherwise, the firm keeps its present location and may start a new search in the subsequent year.
- Residential buildings: The residential development sub model simulates investment decisions of private developers to demolish, upgrade or build residential buildings for rent or sale as a function of supply and demand on the housing market and profitability expectations. If the developer believes that positive returns can be achieved by upgrading or new construction, investments projects are planned. For each project, a zone and a micro location (raster cell, see section 3.3 for detailed overview about spatial data) are selected from the land zoned for residential use selected from the land zoned for residential use location criteria, such as accessibility, neighbourhood facilities, environmental quality and land price. The projects are executed in the implementation phase.
- Non-residential buildings: The model of non residential development examines the demand for floor space in each zone and develops new floor space in zones in which the vacancy rate is low. Floor space development is constrained by land use

restrictions in the municipal land use plans. Within a zone, micro locations (raster cells) close to existing firms are developed before isolated locations. Newly developed land is immediately designated as built-up land, but the new floor space is only offered on the market one year later, in order to consider construction time.

3.2.2 Transport

The transport part of ILUMASS models the demand for travel between different parts of the city at different times of the day and the demand for freight travel, as well as the resulting traffic flows based on state-of-the-art models of household activity patterns and the resulting mobility behaviour of individual household members.

The transport module consists of four different programs organised in three sub modules:

• Travel demand: The first and most complex one is a psychological actor model (activity generation model). Based on socio-demographic data of each person, it computes a weekly activity plan by considering 29 different activities grouped in four main groups such as personal, job and school, social activities and leisure. In addition, it takes the needs and wishes of people into account to replicate and forecast time dependent origin-destination matrices (O-D-matrices) for every hour of the day. These O-D-matrices are used as input into the dynamic traffic assignment sub module.

An individual plan contains a sequence of activities and whether such an activity is located at home or not, these places are called opportunities. In the latter case, a trip to a place where this activity can be performed is needed. The travel demand sub model selects the place, the travel mode and the departure time. The travel demand module needs considerable computing time, e.g. the time to compute one activity time takes one second. For the whole study area (see section 3.5), it takes about two weeks.

To partly overcome the difficulty with the long computing times needed by the psychological actor model, a more traditional demand generation algorithm has been included in a later stage of the ILUMASS project. Different from traditional models, it uses a very disaggregated approach to a compute 24 hourly origin-destination matrices for the study area.

- Dynamic traffic assignment: In the next step the route is computed by a microscopic dynamic traffic assignment, that iterates a shortest-path computation for the whole population in the study area (see 3.5) with a subsequent microscopic simulation until equilibrium has been reached. The resulting travel times are then used in the demand module and the additional traffic information, such as flows and speeds. The traffic information is used as input for the environment module.
- Goods transport demand: The demand generation for good transport was generated by a model that uses macroscopic data (input-output matrix of the German economy), together with a recent German survey on goods transport, to assign goods flow between the different companies in the city. The generated demand was used as additional input into the microscopic simulation above.

3.2.3 Environment

The environment module calculates the impacts of traffic forecasts and land use on the environment such as CO2 emissions, the distribution of air pollution, traffic noise, boundary layer effects (smog) and the barrier effects of traffic. The sub models apply state-of-the-art emission, air quality and noise propagation techniques based on the smallest spatial unit (see also 3.3) in ILUMASS defined by a grid of 352 000 grid cells of 100 x 100 m size. The environmental impact of traffic by vehicle category (lorry, car, bus), volume and speed are calculated as trajectories over a full week. The calculated environmental impact is then fed back to the land use module; there they influence the location choices of land use agents because they affect the quality of locations. This closes the iteration loop of ILUMASS.

3.3 Data

The microscopic urban land-use, transport and environment models in ILUMASS use very detailed land-use, socio-economic and transport data and high-quality spatial data.

"In ILUMASS, three levels of disaggregation can be distinguished" (Wagner & Wegener, 2007): micro, meso and macro (see Figure 18). A grid cell of a 100 by 100 m size defines the smallest spatial unit. The whole study area is divided into 352 000 of such cells. These raster cells are used to locate agents and other objects such as firms, houses or other destination activities. The size of grid cells is a result of a trade-off between high disaggregate spatial scale and practicability reasons such as computing time.

The other two levels define traffic analysis zones for additional demand generation (meso) and municipalities in the Dortmund urban region (macro). In order to bridge the data gap between zones and raster cells, geographic information system (GIS) based techniques are used to disaggregate zonal data to raster cells (Strauch et al., 2005).



Figure 18 Macro-, meso- and micro-spatial resolution.



ILUMASS uses data management to handle spatial data. The data management distinguishes static and dynamic data. Static, not modelled data already exist before the start of the simulation, e.g. the road networks, land use plans, factors that describe human behaviour and the various emission factors. Over the course of the simulation, dynamic data changes because the simulation itself generates it. The changes are important for the feedback between the simulation modules. Results that are relevant for later analysis are aggregated and stored. A dedicated software component organizes the interplay of the different modules (see Figure 19). This allows a "loose coupling" (Wegener, 2005) between the modules, in that each module is a self-standing executable and ILUMASS uses data management to handle spatial data. The data management distinguishes static and dynamic data. Static, not modelled data already exist before the start of the simulation, e.g. the road networks, land use plans, factors that describe human behaviour and the various emission factors. Over the course of the simulation, dynamic data changes because the simulation itself generates it. The changes are important for the feedback between the simulation modules. Results that are relevant for later analysis are aggregated and stored. A dedicated software component organizes the interplay of the different modules (see Figure 19). This allows a "loose coupling" (Wegener, 2005) between the modules, in that each module is a self-standing executable and interacts with the other modules through the integrated database (see Strauch et al., 2005).

In ILUMASS, two distinct time scales can be recognized. Usually the simulation of traffic and the demand for transportation covers a short time period from seconds to weeks to reach its equilibrium, whereas the land-use development needs months to years. The output from the transport system is used as static input into the land use module, while the output from the land use module is used in the following year as an input into the transport module in a quasi-static way.

The ILUMASS land use model uses individual person and household micro data. Due to the fact that the retrieval of individual micro data from administrative registers for planning purposes is neither possible nor, for privacy reasons, desirable, the land-use model works with synthetic micro data (Moeckel, 2006; Moeckel et al., 2002). The synthetic population consists of households and persons that make activities, firms that provide workplaces and that offer goods or services, and buildings for residential, commercial, or public use and is updated annually. The statistical features of the agents in this synthetic population correspond to that of the real population. The synthetic population is updated annually in the land use module and used as input to the transport module.

The transport module uses the synthetic population as input for the activity generation model in the travel demand sub model. The activity generation model replicates and forecasts time dependent origin-destination matrices. For each simulated person the daily and weekly sequence of different activities and trips are generated. These aggregated trip tables by origin and destination and time of day are called activity programs.

In a first step for each person an individual activity repertoire is generated, which contains a set of activities and their characteristic attributes for execution e.g. duration, frequencies, priorities, and period of time (preferred start/end time) including an individual set of possible locations. In a second step, based on a skeleton schedule (routine or habitual activities), the different activities of the repertoire are put together in an individual activity programme (Strauch et al., 2005).

This travel demand is then converted to traffic loads on the network in the dynamic traffic assignment sub model.

3.4 How does it work: Theoretical foundation

A model run of ILUMASS begins in the year 2000. It starts from the socio-demographic and spatial structure and generates from this the demand for transport, travel and freight transport and then the environmental impact of transport. These are then fed into the land use model for the following year, which generates a new socio-economic and spatial structure, which is used again as input to the transport module of the following year. In this manner, the state of the year 2000 is ``transported" into the future. By defining different scenarios that represent different policies, different trajectories of system evolution can be traced and subsequently analyzed for their effectiveness. This can help to identify successful and less successful policies at an early stage and to find better ideas on how the system can be optimized (Wagner & Wegener, 2007).

In the first year, the traffic simulation is similar to a classic four-stage travel demand model. After the first year, the feedback described above sets in and generates the fully dynamic evolution (see Figure 19). Within one simulation period, there is a direct interaction between the travel demand and traffic simulation: the traffic simulation returns travel times to the route choice sub model, which tries to drive the simulation to user equilibrium by assigning new routes to the simulation until it is in equilibrium, or, if this fails, asks the planner (the demand generation tool) to re-plan the activity programs of agents that do not have a feasible activity plan. This step guarantees the consistency of the model because, otherwise, the planning of the agents would be unconstrained and could include unrealistic plans. The travel times used in the planning of the agents should be in line with the true travel times in the network (Wagner & Wegener, 2007).

As the system proceeds from year to year, the feedback between transport and land use is affected. After each simulation period, the following data is available:

- Population, households, employment, firms, residences and industrial and commercial floor space and land use data by grid cell, traffic an analysis zone or municipality.
- A fully disaggregated demand for transport defined as trips from grid cell to grid cell by time of day or summarized in origin-destination matrices by mode of transport.
- Detailed information about network travel times from the traffic flow simulation, as well as traffic loads on each link of the network.
- An approximation of the demand for freight transport and business travel is computed by the freight transport sub model.
- Transport-generated air pollution, noise and other emissions for each grid cell, computed by the environment module.



Figure 19 Integration and data management in ILUMASS.

3.5 Case Study

The study area of ILUMASS is the urban region of Dortmund (see Figure 20). The area consists of the city of Dortmund and its 25 surrounding municipalities (macro level). The area is subdivided into 246 statistical zones. A much higher spatial resolution of 100 by 100 m raster cells (micro level) is applied for the transport and land use micro simulation as well as for modelling environmental impacts (Beckmann et al., 2007, Wagner, P. and M. Wegener, 2007). The study region covers a population of about 2.6 million and 85 000 firms.

The base scenario of ILUMASS assumes the most likely future development of the spatial and transport infrastructure in the study area based on planning documents during development of this project.

The Dortmund region is affected by a profound change of various economic structures: In the past, this region was dominated by coal mining and steel manufacturing.

Although official sources in Dortmund assume a moderate population growth, the whole area is dominated by demographic and economic decline.

Because the project ran out of time, only a few test scenarios are executed. In these test scenarios only very basic checks for plausibility and consistency are made.



Figure 20 The study region of Dortmund and its 25 surrounding communities.

Source: (Strauch & Beckmann, 2005)

3.6 Hurdles in ILUMASS

Although the ILUMASS project greatly advanced the state-of-the-art in integrated urban models, the project ran out of funding before its complete implementation. Indeed every project is unique, but this section can help to surmount similar hurdles in other large projects. In the point of view of Wagner and Wegener (2007) the most important reasons for the partial failure of the ILUMASS project are:

- Application Programming Interfaces (API): The definitions of the interfaces (API) between the different modules had been structured very well. These interfaces are needed to connect the program modules developed at different research laboratories by "loose coupling". However, the definition took more than one year. This time was missing in the end of the project.
- Testing: The testing process was inefficient. To test the functionality the simulation for the whole study area was run. End the end of a long run the simulation was useless because of slight errors in one other several modules. Defining small test cases where whole model chain can be run within second could speed up this process.
- Data exchange: Various source codes in this cooperative software development did not laid open, even not within the consortium. This led to a clumsy data exchange based on files. An open source project should be considered.
- Computing time: The computing time of a large microscopic simulation is time consuming. The most time consuming part, several hours to several weeks, was the calculation of travel demand, the calculation of shortest paths and the microscopic traffic flow simulation. The other parts do not take more than a few minutes of computer time. It might be necessary to work with multi-level models, which are microscopic where necessary and aggregate where an aggregate model is sufficient. It is hard to say where this trade off can be made.
- The cooperation between the project teams was difficult because of different disciplinary research traditions and scientific standards. It might have helped if the research groups could work together at the same location for several weeks.

3.7 Strengths and weaknesses of ILUMASS

This section is presented to summarize the weaknesses and strengths of the ILUMASS model. This comparison relies on the research of Ghauche (2010) that includes ILUMASS and ILUTE.

3.7.1 Strengths

Strengths in the scope of ILUMASS:

- Includes mobile energy and emissions ٠
- Includes land use modifications
- Includes ecological processes
- Includes environmental indicators of sustainability •
- Includes economic indicators of sustainability ٠
- Includes social indicators of sustainability •

Strengths in the modelling approach of ILUMASS:

- Bottom-up approach ٠
- Includes households •
- Includes individual activities •
- High spatial resolution

Strengths in the modelling techniques of ILUMASS:

- Rule-based models Includes households ٠
- Includes inter-individual interactions •

3.7.2 Weaknesses

Weaknesses in the scope of ILUMASS:

- Does not include stationary
- Does not include impact of environment on transport
- Does not include environmental indicators of sustainability ٠

Weaknesses in the modelling approach of ILUMASS:

- Does not include firms
- Does not include activity of firms

Weaknesses in the modelling techniques of ILUMASS:

- Does not include utility-based models
- Does not include intra-individual dynamics
- Does not include partnerships and competition between firms

4 UrbanSim

4.1 Starting with UrbanSim

UrbanSim is an urban simulation software developed by Paul Waddell, first with the support of his team at the University of Washington, Seattle, and now at the University of California, Berkeley. This model aims to simulate transformations in the two interacting systems that are transportation and land use, at the scale of a metropolitan area and over a long time span (typically 20-30 years). In its latest version, it is able to study the impact of environmental plans, land-use regulation (e.g. urban growth boundary, environmental restrictions, density constraints), and by coupling with a transport model, can examine transportation policies (new highways and arterials; new transit systems like bus, rail; various transportation pricing mechanisms like tolling, gasoline tax, congestion charging, etc.).

The motivation for the creation of the UrbanSim Software was to assist land use and transportation planning at the regional level within the context of growth management policies carried out at both the state and local level (Waddell, 2000). As a result, it puts special emphasis on transportation-land use interactions. To do so, UrbanSim models the behaviour of the key agents in the urban development process, namely households, firms, local authorities, and real estate developers, taking (among other things) the influence of transport conditions into account in their various decisions. Moreover, it follows a disaggregated approach. For instance, as far as households are concerned, UrbanSim simulates for each one in the study area yearly changes in composition (including creations/dissolutions), location, and employment.

Regarding the beginnings of UrbanSim, although it was first released on the web only in 1998 as Open Source software, development was initiated in 1996 through the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT)'s Transportation and Land Use Model Integration Project (TLUMIP). Stated more explicitly, through the fundamental project the ODOT funded in 1996 (i.e. TLUMIP) to establish new integrated land use-transportation models, two major outcomes stemmed, the first one was the implementation of a state-wide land use and transportation model and the second one was the development of UrbanSim (Waddell, 2002). It has been gradually improved since then with the financial support of the several grants funded by the National Science Foundation, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and the Federal Highway Administration.

In order to acquire better knowledge of the UrbanSim software, several articles on the Urban-Sim website provide useful information about the specification of the model, specifications of the case studies, analysis of its relationship to land supply monitoring, theoretical bases of the models, UrbanSim role as a decision support system (DSS), and data structure and data development procedure. Many of these items are covered by this report and the reader will find the citation to each item. Notwithstanding, we advise the reader to have a look at the Urban-Sim community web portal at 'www.urbansim.org' where s/he can download the latest stable version of the UrbanSim software. Moreover, the Research section offers a list of papers, reports, and presentations from the whole UrbanSim community, with links to the documents in PDF format.

The UrbanSim software is released as Open Source software under the GNU General Public License (GNU GPL or simply GPL), which is broadly used under free software license. In particular, the GPL requires future upgrades to be accessible under the same copyright.

One of the key features of the UrbanSim software implementation is that it follows objectoriented programming (OOP). The OOP considers the data type (of a data structure) together with functions applied to the data structure. One of its advantages over procedural programming techniques is that it enables programmers to create new modules without any need to impose changes when a new object is added. It also enables the programmer to create a new object from existing objects. This makes object-oriented programs easier to modify.

Last but not least, UrbanSim is relatively flexible and enables the user to use his/her own models instead of the current general models that will be presented in the following sections.

4.2 Geographic Unit of Analysis

For the time being, three different geographic unit of analysis (GUA) can be employed in UrbanSim (UrbanSim-manual, 2009, chapter 17, pp.95-97) :

- Grid cells
- Parcels
- Zones

4.2.1 Grid cells

Most applications of UrbanSim have used the grid cell as the unit of analysis until now. The grid cell is the minimum resolution of geographic details that the user defined for the study. Accordingly, it can be said that, the smaller the size of the grid cell, the longer the computational time. The standard dimension of 150 meter by 150 meter was chosen in most studies so far, though the resolution can be selected by the user. However, more accurate approaches, parcels, were recently introduced in the latest versions of UrbanSim (see Figure 21).

Figure 21 Grid cells and parcels in UrbanSim



Source: (Waddell, 2002)

4.2.2 Parcels

The latest versions of UrbanSim allow the user to adopt a data structure based on parcels. Each building corresponds to one parcel, and households and jobs alike actually choose their building (and therefore parcel) when selecting their location. Land development (new development or redevelopment) also occurs at the parcel level.

4.2.3 Zones

UrbanSim allows the user to substitute any alternative data structure to the grid cells or parcels data structures. For example, traffic zones can be defined as the unit of analysis for an easier coordination with the transportation model.

Based on the experience gained from the SIMAURIF project (Laboratoire-THEMA, 2007) during which UrbanSim was calibrated for the Île-de-France (which corresponds more or less to the Paris metropolitan area), it was found that grid cells were not a relevant GUA given the structure of data for this area. Instead, it would be better to use a different GUA named *îlots*. A group of îlots comprise the larger geographical unit named *IRIS*, and combing IRISs together creates a *Commune*.

4.3 Model Structure

UrbanSim is not inherently an individual model; on the contrary, it is a tool for the integration of several models aimed at the simulation of urban development. Needless to say that each model deals with input data, output data, and a processing core transform the input data to the output. Within UrbanSim, six main models coordinate to receive the input data and produce the outputs. There are agents playing the main roles of the land development process in the real world. The UrbanSim models take the input data from agents and prepare the output for other agents.

4.3.1 UrbanSim object structure

Figure 21 shows the object structure of the UrbanSim model with their related features. This diagram demonstrates the real-world interconnections among the agents who play the major roles in urban structure developments. The objects are:

- **Developers** who construct new **buildings** (new development) or redevelop the current ones. They are responsible for making decisions about the type of development for each GUA including no development in each GUA, the density increase for each one within the current development type, or the evolution of the GUAs to another development type. The supply side of the urban development is directly change by the decision of these agents.
- **Buildings** are located on land parcels that have particular characteristics such as value, land use, slope, and other environmental characteristics.

- The land development is performed in such a way as to not violate the **policies** set by governments to impose restrictions on conversion of land, density constraints, development impact fees, infrastructure costs, urban growth boundary, and environmental restrictions (e.g. see Table 5 in Waddell, Liu, & Wang, 2008). In addition, governments construct infrastructures giving services to the agents occupying the land. The most important service is providing accessibility by transportation infrastructures.
- Households and businesses are the agents occupying the building.



Figure 22 UrbanSim model object structure

Source: (Waddell et al., 2008; Waddell & Ulfarsson, 2004)

4.3.2 Main models and their interconnections

Figure 23 provides the main models and their sequence without dealing meticulously with complex software architecture and the object structure. As can be seen, UrbanSim is mainly composed of six main models which are the accessibility model, the demographic and economic transition models, the household and employment mobility models, the household and employment location models (relocation models, real estate development model (developer model), and the real estate price model. The bold arrows in Figure 23 do not necessarily imply that there is an interaction between the corresponding models, and only show the sequence of events. Only the arrows between the external models (travel demand analysis model and macro-economic model) and the internal ones represent data flows.



Figure 23 The sequence of UrbanSim main models.

Let us now describe the various models:

- **a.** Accessibility model: prepare the pattern of accessibility by the use of data derived from transportation demand analysis models. Accessibility is fed into residential and employment location choice models, as well as real estate development model.
- b. Demographic and economic transition models: simulates births and deaths in the population of households by type and models creations and losses in the job by type. The new households and jobs will find locations later by household and employment location choice models.
- c. Household and employment mobility models (relocation models): models the movement of households or jobs inside the region. The relocating households or jobs are placed in the queue to find new location for them by the location choice models. Their last locations also are made available. As well as interaction with location choice models, these models change the real estate and vacancies conditions, which are used later in the real estate price and developer models.
- d. Household and employment location choice models: selects a location for each household and job that has no current location from the available vacant real estate. A workplace choice model, which *connects* persons to jobs, can be run as well if UrbanSim is configured to do so.
- e. Real estate development model (developer model): models the developer decision making about the place, type, and number of new development and redevelopment of existing structures.
- f. Real estate price model: simulates real estate prices of each GUA. It provides input data for real estate development model and for household and employment location choice models.

Moreover, the external models, which will be described further in section 5, are as follows:

- g. Travel demand analysis model: estimate the zone-to-zone congested travel times and composite utilities of travel.
- **h.** Macroeconomic model: predict future macroeconomic conditions such as population and employment by sector.

How do the models work: Theoretical foundation 4.3.3

The theoretical framework of the UrbanSim models have been presented in several articles and references as (de Palma, Picard, & Waddell, 2007; UrbanSim-manual, 2009; Waddell, Bhat, Eluru, Wang, & Pendyala, 2007; Waddell et al., 2003; Waddell & Ulfarsson, 2003; Waddell, Ulfarsson, Franklin, & Lobb, 2007; Waddell & Ulfarsson, 2004). Here, we just concisely describe the theory behind the model and explain some of its econometrical properties.

Accessibility

The accessibility calculations in UrbanSim transform the transportation data provided by an external traffic model (e.g. see "MATSim- Multi Agent Transport Simulation Toolkit," 2010; METROPOLIS 1.4 manual," 2010) into accessibility measures. We are going to explain it in detail later in section 4.5, which is 'Interaction with travel demand models.

Demographic and economic transition models

Economic transition model

Firstly, it should be noted that the prediction of the change in the number of jobs is not performed inside UrbanSim; on the contrary, macroeconomic models exterior to the UrbanSim environment come in to predict the total number of jobs, and potentially other aggregate information about it. That is, the predicted future employment is derived by a macroeconomic model that is exogenous to UrbanSim. The task of the economic transition model is to integrate the aggregate exterior forecast from macroeconomic models with the database inside UrbanSim for each sector of employments, which consists of typically 10 to 20 employment sectors. It provides for each year the increase or decrease in the number of jobs by sectors by considering constraints (control totals) as the external assumptions about economic growth or decline within sectors over the period of one year.

To do this, jobs are randomly sampled from the simulation database to be added or deleted as needed to meet the control totals. For employment, control totals are usually by employment sector, but may also be split by whether the jobs are home-based or not.

The new jobs are given a location by the subsequent employment location choice model, as explained in the following sections. The jobs that are removed leave a vacant location, which is available for other new or relocating jobs.

Demographic transition model

The demographic transition model serves a similar role as the economic transition model. It interfaces with external data calculated by external macroeconomic models about the total population, and potentially other aggregate data such as household size and income distributions. The demographic transition model determines the total number of household (by type) in the UrbanSim database by the comparison between the anticipated total amount of households for the future years and UrbanSim database. It determines the number of household to be added or deleted in each demographic sector in order to meet the external control totals,

and randomly samples households in the simulation database to add or delete to meet these targets

Household and employment mobility models

Mobility models are also named as the *Relocation Models*. They are classed into household mobility model and employment mobility model.

Employment mobility model

There are several reasons for employ displacements as job turnovers by employees, layoffs, business relocations, or closures (UrbanSim-manual, 2009; Waddell et al., 2003). In this regard, the employment mobility model of the UrbanSim software simulates employment motilities because of these above-mentioned reasons. It uses external historical data which is the input data used as the probability (relative frequency) of employment movement from their current positions, and predicts that jobs (of each type) relocating from their current location or staying during a particular year.

Employment mobility model employs a very simple algorithm to derive the number of relocated jobs equal to the exogenous annual job mobility rates (by sector). Suppose R_{kt} is the number of jobs in sector k, which should be selected for the re-location in year t (k: 1, ..., K; t:1, ..., T). If N_{kt} were the number of total jobs in sector k in year t, the ratio R_{kt}/N_{kt} should meet the job mobility rate in sector k for year t. To do so, we leverage a Monte Carlo sampling process generating N_{kt} [0,1]-uniform random numbers for N_{kt} jobs. For each job if the number is smaller than the job mobility rate in sector k for year t, then it is selected to move, and consequently, it is placed in the limbo to indicate that it does not own currently a position. Its past position, as a result, is made available. That is, the results of employment mobility model are moved jobs having no place, and locations having no jobs. Both of these data will be relaxed by the employment location choice model, which will be described later.

Note that UrbanSim now has a flexible infrastructure to add choice models, and it would be relatively straightforward to add binary logit models for the relocation choice. If panel data is available for firms, it may also be possible to construct a nested model of relocation and location choice, which would be theoretically preferable to independent models. This will need to be further explored.

Household mobility model

Basically household mobility model perform in an analogous fashion to employment mobility model described above. That is, external mobility rates (by sector) are used as the benchmark

by which the model simulates the household relocations year-by-year. The mobility probability (i.e. mobility rate) is usually estimated from census of population surveys. These rates are obviously different for renters, owners, and different household sectors.

When the mover households are distinguished, they will be added to the pool of household having no place currently exactly like the new households come into existence by the last demographic transition model. That is the combination of new and moving households creates a group should be fed into the following household (residential) location choice model.

Household and employment location choice models

Employment location choice model

The Employment location choice model simulates the location choice for:

- Old jobs deemed to move based on the indigenous forecast of employment mobility models inside UrbanSim (i.e. employment relocation model component of Urban-Sim)
- 2. New jobs generated as a result of economic expansions, which are derived through exogenous forecast of external macroeconomic model (see Figure 1).

In other words, in this model we have vacant job location units as our decision alternatives, and the employments as our decision makers. As the first step, the software determines whether or not there is a free place in each GUA. For the jobs, not having any location, the employment location choice model comes finds them new locations. For the location choice model it is supposed that (a) each job, belonging to a firm, encounter a choice situation among several location as the decision alternatives, (b) for each location, a utility (comprised of systematic utility and random one) is considered by the job belonging to the specific firm, and finally (c) that the job choice the location with the highest utility amongst alternative set (utility maximization). Note that in some applications of UrbanSim, such as in San Francisco, the business establishment has been used as the decision-maker.

Using the Random Utility Maximization (RUM), we assume that each alternative i in the job location market is received a final utility U_i , which consist of a systematic (or fixed) utility and an unobserved (or random) utility:

$$U_i = V_i + \varepsilon_i, \quad i = 1, \cdots, n \tag{1}$$

Where $V_i = \alpha \times x_i$ is a linear function, α stands for the vector of coefficients drawn from method of maximum likelihood estimation (MLE), x_i points to the vector of alternative characteristics, *n* refers to the number of alternatives, and ε_i is an unobserved random utility parameter distributed with extreme value type I distribution ending to multinomial logit model pioneered by McFadden (McFadden, 1974):

$$P_i = \frac{e^{V_i}}{\sum_{j}^{n} e^{V_j}}$$
(2)

Where *j* is the alternative index (j=1,..,n) indexes.

Based on (Waddell, Ulfarsson et al., 2007), variables used in the factors can be employed to estimate the systematic utility of each location in the location demand model can be divided into three following tree main categories:

- Multi-modal *accessibility* (x_A) to:
 - Labour
 - Consumers
 - The Central Business District (CBD)
 - The regional airport
- *Site* characteristics (x_S) :
 - Real estate characteristics (land value, residential units, commercial square _ foot, and land use)
 - Proximity of the site to freeways and arterials
 - Characteristics of the land use mix and value
- *Neighbourhood* surrounding the site (x_N)
- Geographic clustering (x_G) of firms of the same (employment by sector within 600 m)

As can be seen above, the accessibility criterion derived from transportation models directly affect the process of job location choices.

In the light of aforementioned explanations, in the employment location choice model, we have the systematic utility of each location as follows (adding index e referring to employment choices and removing index *i* for simplicity):

$$V^{e} = \alpha_{A}^{e} x_{A}^{e} + \alpha_{S}^{e} x_{S}^{e} + \alpha_{N}^{e} x_{N}^{e} + \alpha_{G}^{e} x_{G}^{e}$$
(3)

In brief, the employment location choice model simulates the mechanism of choosing location alternative *i* for a particular employment by a specific firm. Furthermore, for different industry sectors (e.g. Health Service sector, Restaurant and Food Store service, etc) we estimate different choice models (i.e. different set of $\{\alpha_A^e, \alpha_S^e, \alpha_N^e, \alpha_G^e\}$.

Residential location choice model

Because the theoretical framework behind the residential location choice model is similar to the employment location choice model, being based on a multinomial logit model, it is only briefly described here.

The decision alternatives inside this model are GUAs. Each GUA can include null or several housing units. It is important to note that because all the housing units on a grid cell (or zone) are assumed identical, the households are not assigned to a specific housing unit. The systematic utility model for each location is derived by (adding index r referring to residential choices and removing index *i* for simplicity):

$$V^r = c^r + \alpha_H^r x_H^r + \alpha_A^r x_A^r + \alpha_N^r x_N^r$$
(4)

Where each above utility terms can be composed of a linear combination of different variables categorized into (Waddell et al., 2008):

- H represents housing characteristics as
 - Net density of a particular housing type in a zone (units/acre)
 - Number of housing units of a particular type in the zone
 - Average age of the buildings of a type in a zone
 - Price
- R indicates regional accessibility measures such as
 - Multi-modal access to employment opportunities
 - Travel time to the classic monocentric CBD (in minutes)
 - Travel time to airport
 - Distance to highway
- N reflects neighbourhood-scale effects such as
 - Percent of households in a zone in:
 - -The lowest income group
 - -The second lowest income group
 - -The highest income group
 - Percent of the households in a zone that have one or more children

- Percent of the developed land in the zone that is in industrial use
- Percent of the developed land in a zone that is in residential use
- Density
- Local accessibility (local shopping)

Needless to say that not only may the calibration require further variables, but also we put into use statistical tests and further calibration to determine which above-mentioned variables are more suitable for our model. For example in Waddell, et al (2007, p. 394, Table 3) the specific initial variables used in the residential location choice model were revised based on initial testing of the integrated model. That is, they changed their variables after they compared the base year simulation results, which had been derived from UrbanSim, with the real base year data.

Note here that if a workplace choice model is added, as was done in the Seattle application of UrbanSim, it is also possible to add variables representing the individual worker accessibility to their specific workplace. This was found to significantly improve the predictions of the household location choice model in Seattle. Other improvements there included the use of previous residential location, which allowed adding variables for the new location being close to the old one, or of a similar type of neighbourhood – both of which were significant effects.

Real estate development model

We need to identify the future development projects at each position within the study area in each year to have an updated supply database on available real estates and vacancies which play significant role in the residential and employment location choice models, and furthermore, in the land price model. There are two type of developments as the *greenfield development* which refers to a new development and *infill and redevelopment* points to a conversion of current development (Waddell, Ulfarsson et al., 2007).

Land Transition Model

There are three different approaches that have been used by UrbanSim to model real estate development outcomes. The first one is what we will call the land transition model. It takes the perspective of the landowner of a piece of land (grid cell or parcel), and predicts the transition in a given year from the current state of development, to a different state of development. This subsection describes this approach, though it has in fact only been used in the grid cell model applications, and not in more recent parcel or zone level model applications.
The real estate development model interrelates with the two preceding models. That is, the placed households and jobs derived from residential location choice model and employment location choice model are used as the input data for modelling the developer's decision making behaviour in considering a possible transition for the decision alternatives which are the GUAs here. Another input data enters into this procedure is land prices calculated for each simulated year by the land price model that will be described in the subsequent section.

The real estate development model in UrbanSim uses a multinomial logit model to determine which of the following events occurs for each GUA:

- No development (do nothing)
- Increase in the density of GUA but based on the current development type
- Evolution to another development type

Stated more clearly, for each GUA we have a probability that a developer considers one of the aforesaid development alternatives. For each development alternative *i*, a utility composed of a deterministic term and an extreme value random term $(U_i = V_i + \varepsilon_i)$ is calculated. Then, the one with the highest utility (U_i) is selected.

For the calibration of our model, we should consider those GUAs experiencing any type of developments. For these GUAs, the data are entered from the GUAs database to estimate the coefficient of the model as follows (Waddell, 2002; Waddell & Ulfarsson, 2003; Waddell, Ulfarsson et al., 2007):

- Characteristics of the GUA (x_G)
 - Current development
 - Land use plan
 - Environmental constraints
 - Policy constraints
 - Land and improvement value
- Characteristics of the site location (x_s) with respect to proximity to
 - Highways
 - Arterials
 - Existing development
 - Recent development
- Characteristics of the neighbourhood surrounding the site (x_N) ;
 - Characteristics of the land use mix
 - Property values

- Local accessibility measures
- Multimodal accessibility (*x_A*)
 - Access to population and employment
 - Travel time to the central business strict
 - Travel time to the airport

Hence, the fixed utility models is derived as (adding index d referring to developer choices and removing index` i for simplicity):

$$V^{r} = c^{r} + \alpha_{G}^{r} x_{G}^{r} + \alpha_{S}^{r} x_{S}^{r} + \alpha_{N}^{r} x_{N}^{r} + \alpha_{A}^{r} x_{A}^{r}$$
(5)

One limitation of the land transition model is that it does not reflect the role of the developer who is shopping among locations for the most profitable site for specific projects. The next approach takes this perspective.

Development Project Location Choice Model

The second approach to modelling real estate development events implemented in UrbanSim is one that takes the perspective of a specialized developer (for example, one that builds of-fice buildings), and frames the model as a location choice model for that type of project. There are as many sub models as needed to represent different types of properties (building types), and developers are assumed to choose locations in order to maximize their profit.

This framework for the model parallels the household and business location choice models, and adds some flexibility to the model system, by allowing the GUA to be modified relatively easily. It also has somewhat better realism in representing the effects of alternative policies that might restrict development in certain areas, or change the allowable densities for development.

The creation of projects to be located occurs in a development_project_transition_model, which compares the current vacancy rates to long term vacancy rates that are considered threshold levels, below which we expect developers to become active, and above which we expect that profit levels would be low and risk levels high, therefore inhibiting new development. When vacancy rates for a building type fall below the structural vacancy rates set in user input tables, then the model samples enough existing buildings to satisfy the target vacancy rate, and generates new buildings with these attributes. They are then located using a standard MNL model using parcels (or zones) as the location alternatives, and taking into consideration the capacity constraints imposed by land use regulations.

One limitation of this approach, as one might anticipate, is that this reflects only the developer perspective and not the landowner. The two are complementary, and probably both are at work in the market at any time. In addition, using this approach, we can add buildings to a parcel or zone, but it is difficult to directly model redevelopment.

Development Project Proposal Choice Model

This approach to modelling real estate development attempts to bring the landowner and developer perspectives together. The methodology is fully described in Wang and Waddell (2010). In brief, this approach considers each parcel, and evaluates a set of development templates that provide an inventory of alternative types of development and densities. Within the size of the parcel and the development regulations that apply to it, one or more templates might be feasible to build on the parcel. These templates become proposals that can be considered for that parcel.

Once a set of proposals has been generated for each parcel, a return on investment calculation is done for each proposal. The expected revenue from constructing a proposal is computed using the hedonic price models estimated for different building types, substituting the attributes of the proposed building for whatever building characteristics are currently on the site (if it is a redevelopment) or adding it to the site if it is an infill project that is being added to a parcel. Costs of development are considered as well, including the acquisition of the site (the initial value of the parcel), the demolition costs if required, the construction costs for the new development, and any additional costs, such as infrastructure extension, or policies that tax or subsidize development.

Real estate price model

The real estate price model predicts the price of real estate. It is clear that the land value plays an important role in different manner of urban development as was seen through its key function in residential and location choice models, and moreover, the real estate development model where land prices directly enters the utility functions. The real estate price model estimate property values at different locations and with various types of land use through a mechanism embodying the two following approaches:

• Relative prices level: There are several features affect the land spatial values from one place to another one within the study area. These factors, which establish relative land values, are grouped in the three following categories (UrbanSim-manual, 2009; Waddell et al., 2003):

- Site characteristics
 - Development type
 - Land use plan
 - Environmental constraint
- Regional accessibility
 - Access to population
 - Access to employment
- Urban design-scale
 - Land use mix and density
 - Proximity to highway and arterials
- Overall price level: As well as the relative price level captured by the aforesaid items, the overall price level should be also considered for calculating temporal land price (for each type of real estate). In other words, the overall land price might change over time because of the fluctuations in supply and demand. This item is taken through the difference between the current year market vacancy rate and the longterm vacancy rate. For example providing that the current year vacancy rate descends below the long-term vacancy rate, land price levels rise.

Both of the above price levels are merged in the real estate price model forming the following hedonic regression model (Kakaraparthi & Kockelman, 2009; Waddell et al., 2003):

$$P_{ilt} = \alpha + \delta \left(\frac{V_i^s - V_{it}^c}{V_i^s} \right) + \beta X_{ilt}$$
(6)

Where index *i* refers to the building type, index *l* points to the location, and *t* captures the time.

Where P_{ilt} is the land price per unit of development, V_{it}^{c} is the current vacancy rate, V_{i}^{s} is the long-term structural vacancy rate, X_{ilt} is a vector of locational and site attributes, and α , δ and β are estimated parameters. Note that in many applications of UrbanSim, there has not been sufficient vacancy rate information to estimate this vacancy adjustment term, and it is not included in those applications.

After the real estate prices are calculated at the end of year and the database is consequently updated, the new real estate prices are going to be used by residential and location choice models and real estate development model for the following year.

Table 2 provides the summary of input and output data for each UrbanSim models and the external models

Model		Input	Output
UrbanSim models	a. Travel Model Interface	Transportation measures from travel demand mo- dels + Placed jobs and households	Accessibility measures
	b. Economic and demographic transition model	Total number of jobs and households per year	Unplaced jobs and households in each GUA
	c. Household and employment mobility model	Historical data on the rata of mobility + Placed jobs and households in each GUA	Unplaced jobs and households in each GUA + Real estate vacancies
	d. Household and employment location choice model	Accessibility measures + Unplaced jobs and households in each GUA + Placed jobs and house- holds in each GUA + Real estate price + Real esta- te vacancies	Placed jobs and households in each GUA + Real estate vacancies
	e. Real estate development model	Placed jobs and households in each GUA + Exter- nal rules for land development + Accessibility measures + Real estate price	New real estate vacancies
	f. Real estate price model	Accessibility measures + Placed jobs and house- holds in each GUA + Real estate vacancies	Real estate price
External models	g. Travel demand analysis model	Placed jobs and households in each GUA	Transportation measures
	h. Macroeconomic model	Not from UrbanSim	Total number of jobs and households per vear

Table 2Input and output for the models

44 Architecture

We describe the UrbanSim software architecture from two points of view that are functional architecture and physical architecture.

4.4.1 UrbanSim functional architecture

The functional UrbanSim architecture is an architectural model that shows main operational elements, their functions, interactions and corresponding data needs. The structure and processing sequence of UrbanSim are presented in Figure 24 (Waddell et al., 2008). The elements in the UrbanSim model functional architecture is classified into the three following components as:

- Data: flows within and between models as well as between external entities like external models and user inputs. The data rest in a database shown in the centre of Figure 24.
- Models: as mentioned in section 4.3.2, there are six main models inside UrbanSim which are travel model interface, demographic and economic transition models, household and employment mobility models, household and employment location choice models, real estate development model, and real estate price model.
- External components: contain external models (travel demand analysis model and macroeconomic model) and user inputs including user specific events and scenario assumptions.

In Figure 24, inputs fed into the model are:

- The base year data store as:
 - Employment data
 - Household data
 - Parcel database (with acreage, land use, housing units, non-residential square footage, year built, land value, improvement value, city and county)
 - Land use plan
 - GIS overlays for environmental features (wetlands, floodway's, steep slopes, etc.)
 - Traffic analysis zones
 - GIS overlays for planning boundaries
 - Travel model outputs
 - Development costs
- · Control totals derived from external regional economic forecasts

- Travel data derived from travel demand analysis models
- User inputs consisting scenario policy assumptions as:
 - Land use plans
 - Density constraints
 - Soft construction costs (fees, costs, taxes or subsidies)
 - Urban growth boundary,
 - Environmental restrictions,
 - Special planning for exceptional policies _

Considered together as a system, the models and components preserve the input data; simulate its evolution gradually year-by-year and save the new produces data in the data store.

Externally developed control totals for households provide target values for the transition models, which can operate on more detail sub-categories of households (by distribution of income groups, age, size, and presence or absence of children) and employment (by distribution of business sector).



Figure 24 UrbanSim functional architecture

Source: (Waddell, Ulfarsson et al., 2007)

4.4.2 UrbanSim physical architecture

The UrbanSim software physical architecture is the structure, which comprises principal software components and their relationships. That is, beyond the models and data flows, we have some components that integrate and coordinate several models and translate the data from one component to be readable for another one.

The UrbanSim physical architecture in UrbanSim version 3 has been described completely in (Noth, Borning, & Waddell, 2003). Stated concisely, as shown in Figure 25 the UrbanSim physical architecture contains mainly four principal components:

- Models that encode the behaviour of agents in the simulation,
- A model coordinator that manages, and moreover, schedules the order of running the models and informs the models when their related input data has updated,
- An **object store** that keeps during the simulation the shared representations of objects mentioned in section 4.3.1 and also other entities like policy overlays and environmental overlays, and
- An **aggregation and translation layer** that performs a range of data conversions to intervene between the objects and the models.





Source: (Noth et al., 2003)

In Figure 25, the Export Model is the output module, which is implemented as a model because of software engineering reasons.

Much of this general architecture description remains relevant to UrbanSim version 4, which was reimplemented from Java to Python in version 4. A complete description of the design of

the architecture of the current version of the software is available in the UrbanSim documentation.

4.5 Interaction with travel demand models

The interaction between UrbanSim and Travel demand models is a bi-directional interrelationship. The UrbanSim software provides the number of households and the number of jobs in each traffic zone, resulting in the OD matrix. The travel demand models also provide the necessary data ending to the accessibility measures used in different UrbanSim models (see Table 2).

The accessibility is computed for each GUA based on its role as an origin and as a destination. We have(de Palma, Motamedi, Moyano, Nguyen-Luong, & Picard, 2005):

$$A_{ai}^{O} = \sum_{j}^{J} E_{j} e^{L_{aij}}, A_{ai}^{D} = \sum_{j}^{J} P_{j} e^{L_{aij}},$$
(6)

where index *a* is the auto-ownership category, A_{ai}^{O} is the accessibility of GUA *i* as origin and A_{ai}^{D} is the accessibility of GUA *i* as destination, P_{j} is the number of population that travel to the GUA *i* for working there, Ej is the job places to which the people travel, and L_{ij} is composite utility, or logsum, for vehicle ownership category *a*, from location *i* to *j*.

Numerous other measures of accessibility are also available in UrbanSim. If skims for OD pairs are extracted from the travel model by purpose, mode, and time of day, using time and/or generalized cost, then it is possible to compute isochrone type measures of the amount of certain types of activities accessible within specified time frames, by mode. There is no restriction on the nature of these accessibility measures that can be used, and a substantial number have already been coded in UrbanSim and used in a variety of applications. As noted earlier, it is also possible to compute individual-specific accessibility measures, such as log sum, time, or generalized cost for the commute trip for a worker, if the workplace choice is modelled in UrbanSim.

4.6 Case studies

In the paper by Waddell and his colleagues (2008, pp. 9-12), a section has been dedicated to reviews some of the applications of UrbanSim in real world referring to the numerous appli-

cation of UrbanSim such as in Honolulu, Hawaii; Eugene-Springfield, Oregon; Houston, Texas; Salt Lake City, Utah; Seattle, Washington; and San Francisco, California.

In Europe and in Paris, through the project SIMAURIF (SIMulation of the interAction between land Use and transport in the Region Paris Ile-de-France) defined by the regional planning agency for the Paris metropolitan region, IAURIF, in coordination with the University of Cergy-Pontoise, UrbanSim was used for the Paris region. It was one of the largest applications of the model system, to date, with 11 million inhabitants in the region (Laboratoire-THEMA, 2007).

Furthermore, UrbanSim was employed in the research project "Infrastructure, accessibility and spatial development" for the Greater Zurich area intending to simulate the integrated land use and transport development (Löchl, 2006). It also employed in study for the city of Brussels (Patterson & Bierlaire, 2007). Regarding other examples of UrbanSim Application Throughout the Europe we can refer to Lyon, Lausanne, Rome, Tel-Aviv, Amsterdam, and Turin (Vanegas, Aliaga, Beneš, & Waddell, 2009).

Key Features of UrbanSim 4.7

The key features of UrbanSim are:

- The model disaggregately simulates the behaviour of the key decision makers (households, businesses, and developers) who have the major impact on urban development.
- The model simulates urban development dynamically as a spatial and temporal dynamic process.
- This software deals with the land market change over time as the supply side of the urban developments.
- It, furthermore, considers the iteration between demand side (housefuls and firms location demand) and supply side (real estate vacancies).
- UrbanSim consider governmental impositions on conversion of land, density constraints, development impact fees, infrastructure costs, urban growth boundary, and environment.
- The agent (households, businesses, and developers) choice models are based on the random utility models. It incorporates multinational logit models to simulate the decision-making behaviour.
- It also uses the hedonic regression model for the land price analysis.
- UrbanSim is Open Source software using the GPL license.

- It is compatible with windows, Linux, and Apple OS X.
- It is freely downloadable though internet from www.urbansim.org
- It follows object-oriented programming (OOP enabling programmers to create new modules without any need to impose changes when a new object is added.
- It is able to have a very good interaction in input and output data with ArcGIS or ٠ other GIS software.

5 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Sylvie Gayda (Stratec), member of the SustainCity project, for the review of the overview section and in particular of the TRANUS section.

6 References

- Anas, A. (1982). Residential Location Markets and Urban Transportation, Academic Press, New York.
- Anas, A. (1983a). The chicago area transportation-land use analysis system, Technical Report, US Department of Transportation, Washington D.C.
- Anas, A. (1983b). Discrete choice theory, information theory and the multinomial logit and gravity models, Transportation Research, 17B (1) 13 – 23.
- Anderstig, C. & Mattsson L. G. (1991). An integrated model of residential and employment location in a metropolitan region, *Papers in Regional Science*, 70 (2) 167 – 184.
- Anderstig, C. & Mattsson L. G. (1992). Appraising large-scale investments in a metropolitan transportation system, Transportation, 19 (3) 267 – 283.
- Anderstig, C. & Mattsson L. G. (1998). Modelling land use and transport interaction: policy analyses using the IMREL model, Springer, Heidelberg.
- Beckman, R., Baggerly, K., & McKay, M. (1996). Creating synthetic baseline populations. Transportation Research Part A, 30(6), 415 – 429.
- Beckmann, K., Brüggemann, U., Gräfe, J., Huber, F., Meiners H., Mieth, P., Moeckel, R., Mühlhans, H., Rindsfüser, G., Schaub, H., Schrader, R., Schürmann, C., Schwarze, B., Spiekermann, K., Strauch, D., Spahn, M., Wagner, P. & Wegener, M. (2007). ILUMASS Integrated Land-Use Modelling and Transportation System Simulation Endbericht, Technical Report, Institut für Raumplanung Universität Dortmund, Spiekermann & Wegener Stadt- und Regionalforschung, Zentrum für angewandte Informatik der Universität zu Köln, Institut für Stadtbauwesen und Stadtverkehr RWTH Aachen, Otto-Friedrich-Universität Bamberg Institut für Theoretische Psychologie, Deutsches Zentrum für Luft- u. Raumfahrt e.V. in der Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft Institut für Verkehrsforschung, LUIS - Lehr- und Forschungsgebiet Umweltverträgliche Infrastrukturplanung.
- Boyce, D. & Mattsson, L. G. (1999). Modeling residential location choice in relation to housing choice and road tolls on congested urban highway networks, Transportation *Research*, 33B (8) 581 – 599.
- Dalibor, S. (2007). "Application du modèle Logit mixte emboité dans le cadre de l'estimation de la demande de transport", Mémoire présenté à la Faculté des études supérieures de l'Université de Laval.
- De la Barra, T. (1989). Integrated land use and transport modelling, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- De Palma, A., Motamedi, K., Moyano, J., Nguyen-Luong, D., & Picard, N. (2005). Development of a dynamic integrated Land use - Transportation model. Development, 23, 27.

- De Palma, A., Picard, N., & Waddell, P. (2007). Discrete choice models with capacity constraints: an empirical analysis of the housing market of the greater Paris region. Journal of Urban Economics, 62(2), 204 - 230.
- Echenique, M., Flowerdew, A. D., Hunt, J. D., Mayo, T. R., Skidmore, D. C. & Simmonds, I. J. (1990). The meplan models of Bilbao, Leeds and Dortmund, Transport Reviews, 10 (4) 309 - 322.
- Echenique, M. H. (1977). An integrated land-use and transport model, Transactions of the Martin Centre for Architectural and Urban Studies, 2, 195–230.
- Echenique, M. H. (1994). Urban and regional studies at the Martin centre: its origins, its present, its future, Environment and Planning B, 21 (5) 517-533.
- Echenique, M. H., Crowther, D. & Lindsay, W. (1969). A spatial model of urban stock and activity, Regional Studies, 3 (3) 218-312.
- Echenique, M. H., Moilanen, P., Lautso, K. & Lahelma, H. (1995). Testing integrated transport and land-use models in the Helsinki Metropolitan areas, Traffic Engineering and Control, 36 (1) 20 – 23.
- Echenique, M. H. & Williams, I. N. (1980). Developing theoretically based urban models for practical planning studies, Sistemi Urbani, 1 (1) 13-23.
- Ghauche, A. (2010). "Integrated Transportation and Energy Activity-Based Model", Master of Science in Transportation at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Hunt J. D., Kriger D. S. and Miller E. J. (2005). Current Operational Urban Land-use-Transport Modelling Frameworks: A Review, Transport Reviews, 25 (3) 329–376, May 2005.
- Iacono, M., Livenson, D. & El-Geneidy, A. (2008). "Models of Transportation and Land Use Change: A Guide to the Territory", Journal of Planning Literature, Vol. 22, No. 4, 323 -340.
- Kakaraparthi, S., & Kockelman, K. (2009). An Application of Urbansim to the Austin, Texas Region: Integrated-Model Forecasts for the year 2030.
- Laboratoire-THEMA. (2007). SIMAURIF: Modèle dynamique de SIMulation de l'interAction Urbanisation-transports en Région Ile-de-France, Application à la Tangentielle nord, Rapport final de la 2ème phase. Paris: Université de Cergy-Pontoise in association with Institut d'Aménagement et d'Urbanisme de la Région d'Ile-de-France (IAURIF).
- Landis, J. (1994). The california urban futures model: a new generation of metropolitan simulation models, Environment and Planning B, 21 (4) 399-420.
- Lowry, I. S. (1963). Location parameters in the pittsburgh model, Papers and Proceedings of the Regional Science Association, 11 (1) 145–165.
- Lowry, I. S. (1964). A model of metropolis, rand corporation, Technical Report, Santa Monica.

- Löchl, M. (2006). Real estate and land price models for UrbanSim's Greater Zurich application: Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich (ETHZ).
- Martinez, F. J. (1992a). The bid choice land use model: an integrated economic framework, Environment and Planning A, 24 (6) 871 – 885.
- Martinez, F. J. (1992b). Towards the 5-stage land-use transport model, paper presented at Land Use, Development and Globalisation. Selected Proceedings, Sixth World Conference on Transport Research, 79 – 90, WCTRS, Lyon.
- Martinez, F. J. (1997a). MUSSA: A land Use Model for Santiago City, Technical Report, University of Chile, Department of Civil Engineering, Santiago de Chile.
- Martinez, F. J. (1997b). Towards a microeconomic framework for travel behavior and land use interactions, paper presented at 8th Meeting of the International Association of Travel Behavior Research, Austin, July 1997.
- MATSim- Multi Agent Transport Simulation Toolkit (2010). http://www.matsim.org. Accessed March 2010.
- McFadden, D. (1974). Conditional logit analysis of qualitative choice behaviour. In P. Zarembka (Ed.), Frontiers in Econometrics: Academic Press, New York, NY.
- METROPOLIS 1.4 manual. (2010). adpC SPRL, Belgium.
- Miller, E.J., Douglas Hunt, J., Abraham, J.E. & Salvini, P. (2004). "Microsimulating urban systems", Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 28 (2004) 9 – 44.
- Miller, E. & Roorda, M. (2003). "A prototype model of household activity/travel scheduling", Transportation Research Records, Vol. 1831, pp. 98–105.
- Miller, E. J. (2009). "Simulating Cities: The ILUTE Project", Presented at the 2nd General Conference of the International Microsimulation Association "Microsimulation: Bridging Data and Policy".
- Moeckel, R., Schürmann, C. & Wegener, M. (2002). Microsimulation of Urban Land Use, Paper presented at 42nd European Congress of Regional Science Association, August 27 - 31.
- Noth, M., Borning, A., & Waddell, P. (2003). An extensible, modular architecture for simulating urban development, transportation, and environmental impacts. [doi: DOI 10.1016/S0198-9715(01)00030-8]. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 27(2), 181 - 203.
- Patterson, Z., & Bierlaire, M. (2007). An UrbanSim model of Brussels within a short timeline. Paper presented at the 7th Swiss Transport Research Conference, Monte Verita/Ascona.
- Salvini, P. & Miller, E. J. (2005) "ILUTE: An Operational Prototype of a Comprehensive Microsimulation Model of Urban Systems", Networks and Spatial Economics, 5: (2005) 217 - 234.
- Simmonds, D. (2001). The objectives and design of a new land-use modelling package: DELTA, In Regional Science in Business, 159 – 188. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg.

- Simmonds, D. C. & Still, B. G. (1998). DELTA/START: Adding land use analysis to integrated transport models, paper presented at 8th World Conference on Transport Research, Antwerpen.
- Southworth, F. (1995). "A Technical Review of Urban Land Use--Transportation Models as Tools for Evaluating Vehicle Travel Reduction Strategies". OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, USA.
- Strauch, D., Moeckel, R., Wegener, M., Gräfe, J., Mühlhans, H., Rindsfüser, G. & Beckmann, K. J. (2005). Linking Transport and Land Use Planning: The Microscopic Dynamic Simulation Model ILUMASS. Geodynamics. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, 295 -311.
- Thibault, M. (2004). "Traffic Simulation", CSC495 Final Report, Department of Computer Science, University of Toronto.
- Timmermans, H. (2003). The Saga of Integrated Land Use-Transport Modelling: How Many More Dreams Before Wake Up? Paper presented at the 10th International Conference on Travel Behaviour Research Lucerne, 10-15. August.
- UrbanSim-manual. (2009). Opus: The Open Platform for Urban Simulation and UrbanSim Version 4 – Reference Manual and Users Guide-accessed: February 11, 2009.
- Vanegas, C., Aliaga, D., Beneš, B., & Waddell, P. (2009). Visualization of Simulated Urban Spaces: Inferring Parameterized Generation of Streets, Parcels, and Aerial Imagery. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, 15(3), 424 – 435.
- Veldhuisen, K., Timmermans, H. J. P. & Kapoen, L. L. (2000). Ramblas: A regional planning model based on the micro-simulation of daily activity travel patterns, *Environment and Planning A*, 32 (3) 427 – 443.
- Waddell, P. (2000). Simulating Land Capacity at the Parcel Level. In A. Moudon & M. Hubner (Eds.), Monitoring land supply with geographic information systems: theory, practice, and parcel-based approaches (pp. 201 - 218): Wiley-IEEE Press.
- Waddell, P. (2002). UrbanSim: Modelling urban development for land use, transportation, and environmental planning. Journal of American planning Association, 68(3), 297 -314.
- Waddell, P., & Ulfarsson, G. (2003). Dynamic simulation of real estate development and land prices within an integrated land use and transportation model system. Paper presented at the TRB 2003 Annual Meeting.
- Waddell, P., & Ulfarsson, G. F. (2004). Introduction to urban simulation: Design and development of operational models. In D. A. Hensher, K. L. Button, K. E. Havnes & P. R. Stopher (Eds.), Handbook of transport geography and spatial systems (Vol. 5, pp. 203-236): Elsevier Ltd.
- Waddell, P., Bhat, C., Eluru, N., Wang, L., & Pendyala, R. (2007). Modelling Interdependence in Household Residence and Workplace Choices. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2003(-1), 84 – 92.

- Waddell, P., Borning, A., Noth, M., Freier, N., Becke, M., & Ulfarsson, G. (2003). Microsimulation of urban development and location choices: Design and implementation of UrbanSim. Networks and Spatial Economics, 3(1), 43 - 67.
- Waddell, P., Liu, X., & Wang, L. (2008). UrbanSim: An Evolving Planning Support System for Evolving Communities: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy.
- Waddell, P., Ulfarsson, G., Franklin, J., & Lobb, J. (2007). Incorporating land use in metropolitan transportation planning. Transportation Research Part A, 41(5), 382 – 410.
- Wagner, P. & Wegener, M. (2007). Urban Land Use, Transport and Environment Models, Experiences with an Integrated Microscopic Approach, disP, 170, 45 – 56, March 2007.
- Wegener, M. (1982a). Modeling urban decline: a multilevel economic-demographic model of the Dortmund region, International Regional Science Review, 7(1) 21 - 41.
- Wegener, M. (1982b). A multilevel economic-demographic model for the Dortmund region, *Sistemi Urbani*, 3 (4) 371 – 401.
- Wegener, M. (1983). Description of the Dortmund Region Model, Working Paper, 8, Institut für Raumplanung, Dortmund.
- Wegener, M. (2004). "Overview of Land-use Transport Models", In: Hensher, D.A., Button, K.J. (Eds.): Transport Geography and Spatial Systems. Handbook 5 of Handbook in Transport. Kidlington, UK: Pergamon/Elsevier Science, 127 - 146.
- Wegener, M. (2005). "Integrated Land-Use Transport Modelling Progress around the Globe", Presented at the Fourth Oregon Symposium on Integrated Land-Use Transport Models Portland, Oregon, 15-17 November 2005.